## UCSF UC San Francisco Electronic Theses and Dissertations

### Title

Characterization of cells adherent to membranes recovered after periodontal guided tissue regenerative therapy

# Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/82t473z8

## Author

Wakabayashi, Robin C.

## **Publication Date**

1994

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

### CHARACTERIZATION OF CELLS ADHERENT TO MEMBRANES RECOVERED AFTER PERIODONTAL GUIDED TISSUE REGENERATIVE THERAPY

by

## **ROBIN C. WAKABAYASHI, DDS**

#### THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

### **ORAL BIOLOGY**

#### in the

#### **GRADUATE DIVISION**

### of the

### UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

San Francisco

App Dat Deg

## DEDICATION

: : '

-

I wish to dedicate this thesis to my always supportive and loving parents, brother, and his family who always give me the strength to let my dreams come true. Thanks to all my Aunties and Uncles who always give me the reassuring feeling of having multiple moms and dads. All your love has always been an inspiration. This is for my grandfather. May I be the Dentist that he would have wanted me to be.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

- I wish to thank Dr. Paul William Johnson who gave me the guidance and support to make this project worthwhile. Your patience and exuberant enthusiasm will always be appreciated. You've got that rare gift of truly being a scholar, a teacher, and an understanding friend. But, I don't thank you for allowing me to reveal my "wishy-washy" side... and for giving me the <u>insane</u> notion that academics could be a way of life for me.
- I wish to thank Dr. Lester Bryan Lim who always supported me through my dental school career... You thought it would never end, but now it is finally over. Your love and understanding always helped to give me a reason to keep going.
- I wish to thank Dr. David Richards, his staff, and PWJ's staff for all their guidance with the laboratory and computer work that gave this project the finishing touches.
- I wish to thank all my attendings in the Postgraduate Periodontology Clinic for helping me shape my "Philosophy of Periodontics": Special thanks to the crew that really taught me the "A to Z of Periodontics". You taught me more than I could ever absorb in only 3 hours every week.
- Thanks to those that helped push me to my limits. . . to help me know how far connective tissue and Gore-tex® can go, how much positive architecture is possible, why there are paralleling pins in implant kits, that young kids heal well from iatrogenic root exposure, that occlusion really is important, and that scaling and root planing and oral hygiene instruction really work. But most of all, giving back to me the <u>sane</u> notion that private practice should be the way of life for me.
- Thanks to all my fellow residents to help me collect the membranes. Special thanks to my "raft-mates", Greg, Yvonne, and Mahyar for making the last 3 years bearable. It was truly an honor and privilege to be in your class.
- Thanks to Dr. Stacey D. Quo, DDS, MS and Dr. Winifred S. Wong for helping me through it all these 7 years up here at UCSF. I owe you, Big Cheese!
- I wish to thank Jeanne E. Hong for bearing with me through all my college years. You're the best sister I could ever have... and thanks for being there when I finally broke 80!
- I wish to thank Dr. Siu Yin Anna Lau for always giving me a reason to believe that I do have the patience to teach and have something to offer.

### ABSTRACT

A novel way is described to culture cells adherent to membranes used in periodontal guided tissue regeneration. Cell lines had similar fibroblastlike characteristics when first established *in vitro*, but when confluent, Goretex lines exhibited palisading orientations, a feature associated with periodontal ligament cells. All Gore-tex and GTAM lines but not gingival fibroblasts formed mineralized nodules *in vitro* as determined by von Kossa staining. Time of nodule formation between the two cell type lines revealed no significant difference (p = 0.063) although 4 of 6 GTAM lines formed nodules faster than any Gore-tex line.

Metalloproteinase production of all cell lines was examined using gelatin zymography and Western blots. All but one cell line produced 72K gelatinase (MMP-2). Gelatin zymography demonstrated that all lines produced a 55K doublet associated with collagenase suggesting that all these cells can be induced by cytokines and hormones to produce collagenase (MMP-1). Cells cultured from a membrane left *in situ* as long as 15 months, produced 55K collagenase, suggesting long-term induction of regenerated cells.

Some cell lines from both GTAM and Gore-tex lines produced a wide variety of proteases. For example, Gore-tex 27 exhibited a prominent band at 30K that could be associated with of PUMP-1 (MMP-7). No significant differences were seen in TIMP-1 production between the cells from Gore-tex and GTAM membranes (p = .265). Gore-tex and GTAM lines that formed higher molecular weight bands on TIMP-1 Western blots also exhibited a band migrating at 92K on substrate gels, suggesting a complex with 92K gelatinase and TIMP-1.

Results suggest that cells migrating to areas under the membranes have the capability to form mineralized matrices but also retain the ability to produce collagenases that could degrade immature regenerative tissue if exposed to inflammatory mediators. Since little collagenase was produced by cells recovered from membranes left for extended time periods, membrane removal should be prolonged as long as possible. Careful maintenance of the regenerative area is also important before and after membrane removal to minimize the inflammatory response around the regenerative tissue.

v

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	x
INTRODUCTION	1
Development of the Periodontal Attachment Apparatus	2
Definition of Terms Used in Regenerative Therapy	3
Early Wound Healing Events	4
Development of the Theory	
of Guided Tissue Regeneration	5
The Role of Periodontal Ligament Cells	6
Use of Barrier Membranes to Assist	
Guided Tissue Regeneration	8
The Role of Matrix Metalloproteinasess (MMPs)	11
MATERIALS AND METHODS	16
Patient Population and Membrane Retrieval	16
Isolation of Cell Lines	16
von Kossa Staining for Mineralized Nodule Formation	18
Gelatin Substrate Gels	18
Western Blots	19
Data Analysis	21

RESULTS	22
Morpholgy of Cell Lines	22
Mineralized Nodule Formation	22
Gelatin Substrate Gels	28
Western Blots	32
DISCUSSION	39
Cell Cultures and Mineralized Nodule Formation	39
MMPs of a PDL Cell Line (814 PDL)	41
MMPs of GTAM and Gore-tex Lines	41
TIMP-1 Production	46
CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS	48
BIBLIOGRAPHY	50

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	List of Matrix Metalloproteinases	13
Table 2.	Tables of cell lines and time for nodule formation	27
Table 3.	Summary table	37

~

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Schematic diagram of a Gore-tex®	
	membrane and GTAM™	10
Figure 2.	Morphology of isolated cell lines	24
Figure 3.	Confluent cells cultured from a Gore-tex® membrane	25
Figure 4	von Kossa staining of cell lines	26
Figure 5.	Gelatin zymogram of representative cell lines	30
Figure 6.	Gelatin zymogram of cell lines cultured from	
	Gore-tex® and GTAM™ membranes	31
Figure 7.	Western blots to the 72K and 92K gelatinases from	
	conditioned media of representative cell lines	34
Figure 8.	Western blot to TIMP-1 of conditioned media from	
	representative lines	35
Figure 9.	Western blot to TIMP-1 of conditioned media from	
	Gore-tex® and GTAM™ lines	36

----

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

1,25-(OH)2D3	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3
СМ	Conditioned medium
G-tex	Gore-tex <sup>®</sup> membrane
GF-11	Gingival fibroblast cell line
GTAM	Guided Tissue Augmentation Material <sup>™</sup> membrane
IL-1ß	Interleukin-1 Beta
К	Kilodalton (molecular weight measurement)
KcP4LAHCM	Keratinocyte cell line
MG-63	Human osteosarcoma cell line
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase
MMP-1	Fibroblast-type collagenase or collagenase
MMP-2	72K Gelatinase
MMP-7	PUMP-1 or Putative Metalloproteinase - 1
MMP-9	92K Gelatinase
Mr	Molecular weight
PDL 814	Periodontal ligament cell line
PTH	Parathyroid hormone
TIMP-1	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase - 1
TIMP-2	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase - 2
TNF-α	Tissue necrosis factor-alpha

#### INTRODUCTION

The traditional aim of periodontal therapy has been to arrest the progression of periodontal infection and to maintain the remaining periodontal structures (Stahl 1977). It was once thought that destruction of periodontal tissues caused by periodontitis was irreversible and predictable regeneration was not possible (Stahl 1977). With the advent of techniques of guided tissue regeneration, partial regeneration of lost periodontal tissues can be achieved (Karring et al. 1985). A basic understanding of the events and characterization of the cells and extracellular components comprising this regenerative tissue will be the key to maximizing this therapy for periodontitis patients.

Periodontal disease is a general term used to describe specific diseases that affect the gingiva and the supporting connective tissue and alveolar bone, which anchor the teeth in the jaws (Williams 1990). The periodontal diseases are among the most common chronic disorders of man. With the declining incidence of dental caries in the general population, periodontal disease has become the most common cause of tooth loss in adults (Shaw 1987). For many years, it has been recognized that periodontal diseases are caused by the accumulation of bacteria on the surface of the tooth. Although the exact causative bacteria have not yet been identified, a number of anaerobic microaerophilic gram-negative bacteria have been implicated (Socransky 1970).

Periodontitis affects the periodontal attachment apparatus surrounding the teeth. The periodontal attachment apparatus comprises alveolar bone, the periodontal ligament with its cells and fibers anchoring into cementum on the root surface, gingival connective tissue, and junctional epithelium (Williams and Zager 1978). Overlying these supporting structures are the gingiva and the alveolar mucosa. In the process of periodontitis, some or all of these components are destroyed and epithelium migrates down the root surface, forming periodontal pockets. Thus, periodontitis causes a loss of connective tissue, resorption of the alveolar bone, and formation of periodontal pockets (Williams 1990). In cases of periodontitis, after periodontal surgery repair usually occurs by formation of a long junctional epithelium (Listgarten 1967). During periodontal surgery the diseased tisssue is removed and the fastest migrating cells will repopulate that space. Epithelium will migrate the fastest and form along the root surface excluding

1

the other cell types (Gottlow et al. 1984). The techniques of guided tissue regeneration were developed to preferentially allow migration and proliferation of the cell types responsible for restoration of the original periodontal attachment apparatus.

#### **Development of the Periodontal Attachment Apparatus**

A basic understanding of the development of the periodontal attachment apparatus is important in order to understand the principles of guided tissue regeneration. The tissues of the attachment apparatus are derived from the dental follicle (Ten Cate et al. 1971, Ten Cate and Mills 1972). The dental follicle is first recognized as a condensation of ectomesenchymal cells and tissue surrounding the developing tooth (Ten Cate et al. 1971). The development of the roots begins after enamel and dentin formation has reached the future cementoenamel junction. The enamel organ plays an important part in root development by forming Hertwig's epithelial root sheath, which molds the shape of the roots and initiates dentin formation on the root surface. Cementum formation in the developing tooth is preceded by the deposition of dentin along the inner aspect of Hertwig's epithelial root sheath. Once dentin formation is under way, breaks occur in the epithelial root sheath allowing the newly formed dentin to come in direct contact with connective tissue of the dental follicle. Cells derived from this connective tissue are responsible for cementum formation (Ten Cate et al. 1971).

As the crown and the root develop, the surrounding periodontal ligament (PDL) becomes organized as well (Furstman and Bernick 1965). The main function of this connective tissue complex is to support and anchor each tooth within the alveolar housing (Levy and Bernick 1968). The ligament is maintained in the periodontal ligament space (0.15 to 0.4 mm) intervening between the cementum covering the root and the bone of the alveolar process (Hassell 1993). The mesenchymal cells and fibers of the PDL space are first disorganized. The collagen fibers (principal fibers) measure 300 to 500 nm in diameter. These principal fibers are attached to bone by Sharpey's fibers, thus anchoring the tooth into the surrounding alveolar bone. As development proceeds, a fairly dense layer of connective tissue substance is laid down near the surface of the cementum, with the orientation of the matrix and fibers generally paralleling the long axis of the tooth. Before eruption, PDL fibroblasts near the cemental surface, especially

2

in the coronal one third of the root, become oriented in an oblique direction, and a fibrillar matrix is deposited (Levy and Bernick 1968). It is not until the tooth erupts fully in the dental arch and is subjected to functional occlusal forces that the periodontal tissues become fully differentiated. This involves innervation from the mesencephalic nucleus and from the trigeminal ganglion (Byers and Matthews 1981, Byers 1985, Byers 1986); maturation of the vascular supply from nutrient canals from the cribiform plate of the alveolar bone, from branches of the arteries supplying the teeth, and from the vessels of the free gingival margin (Hayashi 1932); formation of blind-end lymphatic vessels (Levy and Bernick 1968), and the functional orientation of the fibers. This orientation of the fibers changes from parallel to perpendicular to the root surface (Levy and Bernick 1968, Furstman and Bernick 1965).

#### **Definition of Terms Used in Regenerative Therapy**

Prior to the World Workshop in Periodontics in 1989 (sponsored by the American Academy of Periodontology), nomenclature associated with regeneration therapy was often used interchangeably. Many terms were used in overlapping fashion when describing the outcome of periodontal surgery. At that meeting, the following terms were proposed.

- **Repair:** healing of a wound by tissue that does not fully restore the architecture or the function of the part (i.e., ankylosis, healing by long junctional epithelium, connective tissue adhesion)
- **Reattachment:** to attach again. The reunion of connective tissue with a root surface on which viable periodontal ligament tissue is present.
- **New attachment:** the reunion of connective tissue with a root surface that has been deprived of its periodontal ligament. This reunion occurs by the formation of new cementum with inserting collagen fibers. (Note: independent of alveolar bone growth)
- **Regeneration:** reproduction or reconstitution of a lost or injured part to its prediseased state. This involves coronal movement of the margin of the alveolar bone, functionally oriented, perpendicular fibers inserting into reformed cementum, and a periodontal ligament space.

#### **Early Wound Healing Events**

An understanding of early wound healing events around tooth surfaces is important to the understanding of guided tissue regeneration. One must be aware that healing events in periodontal defects are complicated by the fact that one healing surface is opposed to an avascular, calcified, rigid root surface. The sequence of healing in periodontal defects is commonly divided into three overlapping phases: 1) inflammation, 2) granulation tissue formation, and 3) matrix formation and remodeling (Wikesjö et al. 1992). The first event includes formation of a fibrin clot and aggregation of erythrocytes and PMNs (polymorphonuclear leukocytes). After the first day, PMNs predominate and strands of fibrin gradually become more distinct throughout the clot, binding to the connective tissue as well as the dentin surface. Because the clot must closely adhere to the rigid, avascular radicular surface, some advocate that the initial stabilization of this clot is most critical to wound healing around teeth (Linghorne and O'Connell 1950, Polson and Proye 1983, Wikesjö and Nilvéus 1990). This clot is mostly fibrin and fibronectin (Clark et al. 1982). The degradation of erythrocytes begins at this time.

At day 3, granulation tissue forms at the dento-gingival interface. Macrophages can now be seen along with fibroblasts. At day 7, the wound is dominated by cell-rich granulation tissue with fibroblasts and fibronectin (Diegelmann et al. 1975 and Kurkinen et al. 1980). In this early granulation tissue, the fibronectin is associated with the type III collagen which eventually will predominate. As the matrix remodels, type III collagen is degraded and replaced by type I collagen in the mature matrix. (Kurkinen et al. 1980). At day 14, the collagen fibers in the periodontal ligament space now becomes associated with the dentinal surface. After 21 days, cementum formation is detected (Selvig et al. 1988, Ririe 1980). Up to 4 months after surgery, collagen adhesion (collagen fibers predominantly oriented parallel to the hard tissue surface) may still be present (Cole et al. 1980). Thus, as outlined above, there is a very complex spatiotemporal sequence of events. This requires strict regulation of the cells and remodeling of the matrix components to intermediary components prior to complete tissue regeneration.

#### **Development of the Theory of Guided Tissue Regeneration**

Guided tissue regeneration is based on the principles first proposed by Melcher in 1976. He hypothesized that there were four separate compartments of connective tissue in the periodontium: the lamina propria of the gingiva, the periodontal ligament, cementum, and bone. The connective tissue cells in each of these compartments represented different phenotypes, and it was the phenotype of the cells repopulating the area after wound healing that determined the regenerative response. After a review of the wound healing studies done up to that time, Melcher hypothesized that periodontal ligament regeneration can only come from the periodontal ligament itself.

Interesting enough, a year later in 1977, Stahl presented his views on the regeneration of the periodontium. In his essay, Stahl questioned the ability to form new cementum in which new fibers can reattach once the cementum has been exposed to the microbial environment. He sited several studies that showed that this was seldom seen. The only promising possibilities, that were unpredictable at best, were those seen with autogenous bone grafts (Dragoo and Sullivan 1973, Froum et al. 1975). He hypothesized that regeneration of new cementum that can support functionally oriented periodontal ligament fibers is the most important factor in achieving regeneration.

Stahl and others (Stahl 1977, Levine and Stahl 1972, Aleo et al 1975) questioned whether or not this regeneration could be achieved on diseased root surfaces or root surfaces contaminated by long-term exposure to the oral cavity. Karring et al. (1985) addressed this question. Orthodontic elastic ligatures were placed around teeth in green monkeys in order to induce breakdown of the supporting tissues until it progressed to midroot level. Three months after ligature removal, the crowns and the exposed cementum of the teeth were removed by instrumentation. The remaining root structure of these teeth were submerged under the gingival tissues by repositioning the gingival flaps over the roots. After 3 months, all roots showed newly formed cementum with inserting collagen fibers ranging from 0.1 mm to 2.6 mm. Of the 16 roots, 6 became exposed through the gingival tissue within the first week. Epithelium was shown to migrate apically down the root surfaces of all these erupted root surfaces. All the other 10 roots that remained submerged showed some areas of bone regeneration; whereas, no regrowth of alveolar

5

bone was observed adjacent to any of the exposed roots. The new attachment occurred up to the coronal extent of new cementum. Coronal to this area where the roots were in direct contact to gingival connective tissue, the root surfaces showed some areas of resorption. Therefore, it was shown that new attachment can occur on previously diseased root surfaces provided that the root surfaces are isolated from the oral cavity and migrating epithelium.

Isidor et al. (1986) looked at the significance of coronal growth of periodontal ligament tissue for new attachment formation. Angular bony defects were surgically created around teeth in four adult green monkeys. The periodontal ligament tissue and the root cementum were removed to the bottom of the bony defects. In half the roots, an elastic ligature was placed at the bottom of the defects. All the roots were submerged under the gingival tissues by repositioning the gingival flaps coronal over the roots. After 3 months of healing, the animals were sacrificed and block sections of the roots were prepared. New attachment had formed above the level of the defect in 10 of the 14 control teeth but only 1 of the 18 test roots had new attachment. This supports the suggestion that the periodontal ligament is a prerequisite for new attachment formation.

#### The Role of Periodontal Ligament Cells

From the above studies, it was suggested that new attachment can be achieved on previously diseased root surfaces as long as precursor cells are allowed access to migrate to these areas. Also, it has been implicated that precursor cells that give rise to cementoblasts and the fibroblasts to produce new periodontal fibers originate from the periodontal ligament space. The following studies also support this.

In one study, PDL cells were reimplanted around teeth to determine if this can induce new attachment. This novel experiment was reported by Boyko et al. (1981). They extracted premolar teeth from beagle dogs, harvested the periodontal ligament cells and gingival fibroblasts, and cultured them *in vitro* for one or two passages. Maxillary and mandibular lateral incisors were extracted, the crowns removed, and root canals instrumented and obliterated using zinc-oxide-eugenol cement. The root surfaces were scraped and demineralized for 48 hours in 0.5M EDTA ([Ethylenedinitrilo]tetraacetic acid tetra sodium salt), pH 7.4. After demineralization, the roots were incubated either with harvested PDL cells or gingival fibroblasts, or no cells (control) for 10 days. The roots were then implanted into prepared edentulous areas. The dogs were sacrificed at 8 weeks and *en bloc* sections were prepared for histologic examination. On control roots or roots bearing gingival connective tissue cells, ankylosis of bone and tooth and resorption of cementum were observed. Roots bearing periodontal ligament connective tissue cells showed similar changes but not as widespread. Only roots transplanted with PDL cells showed areas covered by fibrous connective tissue organized to resemble periodontal ligament, with attachment to both tooth and bone by collagen fibers. Therefore, it was concluded that only PDL cells can contribute to new attachment.

Studies have also shown that cells harvested from the periodontal ligament space have phenotypic characteristics of mineralizing cells. Arceo et al. (1991) reported that PDL cells, but not gingival fibroblasts, were capable of forming mineral-like nodules *in vitro*. Nojima et al. (1990) showed that PDL cells can respond to osteoblastic inducers. In this study, bone *gla* protein (BGP) (also known as osteocalcin) was detected in PDL cells but not in gingival fibroblasts and BGP was increased if 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (1,25-(OH)2D3) was added to the PDL cultures. BGP is a known osteoblastic marker (Skjødt et al. 1985). Furthermore, the production of 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) in PDL cells was greatly increased in response to human parathyroid hormone. Mukai et al. (1993) observed that rat periodontal ligament cells formed a mineralized matrix resembling osteoid *in vitro*. This tissue included osteoblast-like cells, osteocyte-like cells, a collagenous matrix, a mineral composed of hydroxyapatite, and intense alkaline phosphatase activity.

Other evidence that supports that the periodontal ligament space contains progenitor cells needed to regenerate a new attachment was reported by Buser et al. (1990). They sectioned the coronal half of teeth in monkeys and placed ITI implants in close proximity to the retained roots. They found new cementum and perpendicularly oriented, embedding periodontal ligament fibers forming around the implant. This lends support to the concept that periodontal ligament cells can regenerate the attachment apparatus because without the proximity of the implant to an intact PDL, no new cementum can around an implant and only osseointegration with bone structure is seen.

#### **Use of Barrier Membranes to Assist Guided Tissue Regeneration**

From the studies in the 1980's by Karring et al. (1985), Isidor et al. (1986) and others (Aukhil et al. 1987, Bowers 1988, Houston et al. 1985), it was demonstrated that regeneration of a functional periodontal attachment apparatus could be achieved around teeth previously deprived of cementum. It was apparent that the epithelium and connective tissue from the lamina propria must be excluded to guide tissue growth from the apical portion of the defects.

Currently, techniques to achieve guided tissue regeneration of the periodontium involve the use of barrier membranes and adjuncts such as root conditioning agents (i.e. citric acid and tetracycline), graft materials including autografts (intraoral and extraoral), alloplastics (hydroxyapatite) and allografts (freeze-dried demineralized bone). The barrier membranes fall into two types: resorbable and non resorbable. The resorbable membranes include collagen membranes (Chung et al. 1990), polylactic acid barriers (Magnusson et al. 1990), and Vicryl (polygalactin 910, a copolymer of glycolide and lactide) (Fleisher et al. 1988). The standard material in use today in the nonresorbable category is polytetrafluorethylene (ePTFE) or Gore-tex® (W.L. Gore & Associates). The main purpose of the grafts and the membranes is to maintain the space once occupied by the diseased tissue long enough for tissue to regenerate into a functional periodontal attachment apparatus.

The use of a barrier membrane in humans was first published by Nyman et al. in 1982. In this case report, they reported the use of a Millipore® filter (Millipore S. A.) as the barrier on a lower left lateral incisor. They removed the tooth *en bloc* and prepared the biopsy for histologic evaluation. New cementum with inserting collagen fibers was observed and within the pre-existing angular bony defect, new supporting bone had been formed but no coronal regeneration of alveolar bone was observed. Thus, they were the first to report that regeneration could be obtained with the use of a barrier membrane.

Further reports were soon published supporting the use of membranes to achieve regeneration. Gottlow et al. (1984) reported the first cases comparing Millipore® and Gore-tex® membranes in 3 monkeys (*Macaca cynomolgus*). The results showed that with either barrier, a new functional attachment apparatus around teeth was obtainable. Two years later Gottlow et al. (1986) repeated an experiment using Gore-tex® membranes on human

8

subjects . All 12 teeth treated with the Gore-tex® membranes showed some regeneration.

Magnusson et al. (1985) presented variable results of regeneration after the use of Millipore® filters in 6 *Macaca nemestrina* monkeys. Surgical defects were created where the buccal bone and the cementum were removed. The defects were then either covered with the filters (7 teeth) or left alone (8 teeth) and then flaps coronally sutured over the defects. The monkeys were monitored for 6 months after which 7 test teeth and 8 control teeth were compared by histological examination. Regrowth of alveolar bone and perpendicular, functionally oriented fibers had occurred to a varying degree adjacent to the test roots. However, no relationship was found between the amount of new cementum formation and attachment fibers and the degree of regrowth of the alveolar bone. In the majority of the control roots, no new cementum was formed but a long junctional epithelium was lining the root surface. Therefore, they concluded that reformation of cementum and a functionally oriented periodontal ligament (new attachment) is independent of reformation of the surrounding alveolar bone.

Schupbach et al. (1993) examined this new attachment at higher magnifications using scanning and transmission electron microscopy. Resorbable polyurethane membranes were used over surgically created defects in dogs. They reported that full regeneration occurred in parts of the roots only if some of the original cementum remained on the root surface. Repair was observed if peripheral dentin was removed by root planing as this layer was not reestablished. New attachment, regardless of bone regeneration, always occurred by intermingling linkage between new cementum fibrils and pre-existing tissue fibrils. Thus, accentuating the point that there must be a complex spatial and temporal coordination of events to gain full regeneration of the attachment apparatus and that repair and regeneration can occur simultaneously.

Since these pioneering studies, it has been well-established that membranes can be used to assist in tissue regeneration around teeth (Figure 1 (A)). Studies have been published supporting the use of Gore-tex® and other membranes in routine periodontal therapy with and without adjunctive procedures such as graft placement and citric acid conditioning (Warrer et al. 1988, Becker et al. 1988, Caffesse et al. 1990, McClain and Schallhorn 1993). Although all these studies report favorable gain in clinical parameters

9



Figure 1. Schematic diagrams of the function of Gore-tex® membrane and GTAM<sup>TM</sup>. (A) Gore-tex® membrane placed around a periodontally diseased tooth. (B) GTAM<sup>TM</sup> membrane placed over an extraction socket. (C) GTAM<sup>TM</sup> membrane placed in conjunction with implant placement. (**4**–) pointing to the membrane in each diagram.

(decrease in clinical probing depth, increase in clinical attachment level, decrease bleeding on probing) and histological parameters (changes in bone height, width, and volume), no study has reported perfect success of regeneration of periodontal defects.

The use of Gore-tex® materials has been adapted to regenerate osseous structures in edentulous areas. GTAM<sup>™</sup> (Gore-tex® Augmentation Material) materials are now widely used to augment an alveolar ridge in conjunction with an implant to achieve maximum osseointegration (Figure 1 (C)) (Nyman et al. 1990) or after extraction of a tooth (Figure 1 (B)) (O'Brien et al. 1994). After extraction of a tooth, the socket region is filled in with bone but the alveolar crest is resorbed to an unpredictable level (Pietrokovski and Massler 1967). The GTAM<sup>™</sup> membrane is placed over the socket to exclude gingival fibroblasts and epithelium from migrating into the space once occupied by the tooth. Seibert and Nyman (1990) demonstrated in two adult beagle dogs that surgically created defects in extraction sockets could be successfully augmented using a membrane or a membrane plus porous hydroxyapatite graft 3 months following the creation of the defect. Histological analyses showed that this regenerative tissue filling the defect was bone. It is this slight variation on the original guided tissue regeneration concept that Buser et al. (1993) suggest the use of "Guided Bone Regeneration" to more clearly define the desired outcome. Strictly speaking, in this technique, only osteogenic precursors will have access to this area and therefore only osseous structures will be formed under these membranes.

#### The Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMPs)

As the cells migrate into the area under the Gore-tex® and GTAM<sup>™</sup> membranes, they secrete elements that will form a new matrix. An understanding of how this matrix matures into a functional attachment apparatus rather than reparative tissue (i.e. long junctional epithelium, collagen adhesion with parallel oriented fibers, or only new attachment with no osseous regeneration) would be essential to guaranteeing successful regeneration.

Remodeling is essential to the maturation of tissue. Tissue is made up of cells and extracellular matrix (ECM). The major structural proteins, collagens, support the basic structure of the ECM, while the major adhesive glycoproteins, fibronectin and laminin, mediate the binding of cells to ECM (McDonald 1988, Ruoslahti 1988, Martin & Timple 1987). As the matrix matures, it will be remodeled by surrounding cells secreting degradative enzymes. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) are some of these enzymes. To date, nine MMPs have been identified. They include interstitial collagenases (Fibroblast-Collagenase [FIB-CL] and PMN [Polymorphonuclear]-Collagenase), stromelysins (SL-1, SL-2, SL-3), gelatinases (72K gelatinase/type III collagenase [Mr 72K GL], 92K gelatinase/type IV collagenase [Mr 92K GL]), putative metalloproteinase-1 (PUMP-1), and macrophage metalloelastase (MME) (Table 1). The MMPs are secreted as proenzymes, requiring further modification by proteinases to become activated (Birkedal-Hansen 1993). These enzymes share a number of common structural and functional features but differ somewhat in terms of substrate specificity (Table 1). However, there is an apparent redundancy with overlapping of the substrate specificity. For instance, virtually all of the enzymes cleave gelatin and fibronectin, and most cleave type IV and V collagens.

The high frequency with which MMP or inhibitor transcripts or proteins can be detected in cells, tissue, and interstitial fluids during development and reparative processes suggests that these enzymes play a major role. A number of studies have provided evidence for involvement of MMPs and their inhibitors in these processes. These include embryonic growth and differentiation (Nomura et al. 1989), trophoblast invasion (Fisher et al. 1989), skeletal growth and remodeling (Sellers et al. 1978, Dean et al. 1985, Delaisse et al. 1988, Nomura et al. 1989, Flenniken and Williams, 1990), and development of tooth germs (Nomura et al. 1989).

The degradation of the matrices must be tightly regulated. Because of the potential danger of uncontrolled degradation, there are many pathways that MMPs are regulated. Growth hormones and cytokines mediate some transcriptional regulation (MacNaul et al. 1990, Kerr et al. 1988).  $\alpha$ -Macroglobulins bind and inactivate proteinases such as MMPs by cleaving part of the molecules and causing a conformational change (Sottrup-Jensen et al. 1989). Another form of MMP regulation is through noncovalent bond formation with tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMPs). TIMPs inhibit MMP activity as well as retard precursor activation (DeClerck et al. 1991).

Of the growing number of known TIMPs, TIMP-1 has been the most widely studied. It is a 29K mannose-rich sialoglycoprotein (Stricklin & Welgus, 1983). TIMP-1 forms complexes with FIB-CL (Welgus et al. 1985) and

Extracellular matrix substrates	00 Collagen I,II,III,(III>>I)VII,VIII,X; gelatin; Proteoglycan core protein	Gelatin; collagen IV,V,VII,X,XI; elastin; fibronectin; proteoglycan core protein	<ul> <li>Proteoglycan core protein;</li> <li>fibronectin; laminin; collagen</li> <li>IV,V,IX,X; elastin;</li> <li>procollagenase</li> </ul>	Fibronectin; laminin; collagen IV, gelatin; procollagenase; proteoglycan core protein	Same as FIB-CL (I>>III)	Gelatin; collagen IV,V; elastin; Proteoglycan core protein Fibronectin*	00 Same as SL-1	Not determined	Elastin
Mr	57,000/52,00	72,000	60,000/55,00	28,000	75,000	92,000	60,000/55,00	not determined	53,000
MMP #A	MMP-1	MMP-2	MMP-3	MMP-7	MMP-8	MMP-9	MMP-10	MMP-11	* *
Abbreviation	FIB-CL	M <sub>r</sub> 72K GL	SL-1	PUMP-1	PMN-CL	Mr 92K GL	SL-2	SL-3	MME
Enzyme	Fibroblast-type collagenase	Mr 72K gelatinase/type IV collagenase	Stromelysin-1	Putative metalloproteinase-1	PMN-type collagenase	M <sub>r</sub> 92K gelatinase/type IV collagenase	Stomelysin -2	Stromelysin-3	Macrophage metalloelastase

Table 1. List of Matrix Metalloproteinases

Δ - MMP numbering according to Nagase H, Barrett AJ, Woessner JF Jr. <u>Matrix</u> Spec. Supp. 1: 421-424, 1992.
 \* - MMP-9 also found to cleave fibronectin (Partridge et al 1993), not originally reported by Nagase et al.

\*\*\* - discovered after Nagase et al. article

to the Mr 92K GL (Wilhelm et al. 1989). TIMP-1 expression is stimulated by epidermal growth factor (EGF), tissue necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), Interleukin-1 (IL-1), transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), phorbol esters, retinoids, and glucocorticoids (Clark et al. 1987, Edwards et al. 1987, Mawatari et al. 1989).

The association of MMPs in the destruction of periodontal disease has been studied. MMPs have been isolated from the gingival crevicular fluid from periodontally-diseased sites (Sorsa et al. 1988). Teng et al. (1992) reported that during periods of attachment loss, there was a 2-fold increase of mean active gelatinase activity in saliva collected from recurrent periodontitis patients. Because of these reports, therapy has been developed to decrease the degradation of periodontal tissues due to collagenases. The use of tetracycline and their chemically-modified analogs for their collagenase inhibition properties has been examined in periodontitis patients (Rifkin et al. 1993). Some success had been reported with patients on long-term low doses of these drugs. Schroeder et al. (1992) reported decreased loss of attachment in periodontitis patients when these patients were on low dose (20 mg twice daily) doxycycline for 3 months. The drug dosage was below the dose effective for its antibacterial effects but high enough for collagenase inhibition. This was confirmed by no development of doxycycline-resistant microorganisms in their subgingival plaque.

The reports in the periodontal literature have only looked at MMPs and their role in the pathogenesis of periodontitis. However, no reports have been published exploring the role of MMPs and their TIMPs in remodeling the matrix formed after guided tissue regeneration procedures. As stated earlier, MMPs are important in the development and remodeling of tissues; therefore, understanding the role that they play after guided tissue regenerative therapy could have a great impact on gaining and preserving a more predictable result.

Although studies pertaining to the molecular characteristics of the extracellular matrix produced after regenerative procedures are nonexistent, there are studies looking at the cell types attached to barrier membranes. Studies have characterized the microflora (Tempro & Nalbandian 1993, Demolon et al. 1993, Wang et al. 1994) or the epithelium adherent to the membrane (Salonen & Persson 1990, Pritlove-Carson et al. 1992, Grevstad and Leknes 1992). Selvig et al. (1990, 1992) reported that some connective tissue elements were adherent to the membranes. These elements included

firbrous structures suggestive of collagen fibers and cells with a fibroblast-like appearance. Machtei et al. (1994) reported enlarged fibroblasts on the inner surface of the membranes correlated with decrease in furcation dimension after 12 months. These fibroblasts were not further characterized.

It is likely that the fibroblast-like cells adherent to the membrane contribute to the development of the final structure of the regenerative tissue. No reports have been published characterizing these fibroblast-like cells associated with the membranes. Examination phenotypes of these cells will assist in a better understanding of the regenerative process. This manuscripts reports initial characterization of the fibroblast-like cell types adherent to Gore-tex® and GTAM<sup>TM</sup>. Part of the MMP repertoire as visualized by gelatin zymography, TIMP-1 production, and the ability to form mineralized nodules as visualized by von Kossa staining are examined for cell lines isolated from these membranes.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Patient Population and Membrane Retrieval**

Gore-tex® membranes and GTAM<sup>TM</sup> (W.L. Gore and Associates) were retrieved from patients following guided tissue regeneration procedures in the postgraduate periodontology clinic at the University of California, San Francisco. Informed consent was signed by the patients to undergo the procedures. All patients were in good general health and were taking no medications. The membranes were retrieved from 11 patients (7 males and 4 females) ranging from 21 to 69 years (mean 42.38 ± 15.83). Patients were given a 2 week regimen of doxycycline (200 mg stat, then 100 mg qd) immediately after placement of the membranes. Also, patients were asked to rinse with Peridex® (0.12% Chlorohexidine) twice a day during the healing phase.

The Gore-tex® membranes were used for regenerative treatment of periodontally diseased teeth (Figure 1 (A)). The periodontally involved teeth required no restorative treatment and were without endodontic or periapical involvement. Five Gore-tex® membranes were placed over interproximal defects (G-tex 18,19,27,30,31) and one membrane was placed in a Class II furcation defect (G-tex 3). [Note: The number designation of the cell lines represents the location that the membranes were placed based on the Universal numbering system of teeth.] All Gore-tex membranes were left in place between 6 to 8 weeks.

GTAM<sup>™</sup> were recovered from edentulous ridge augmentation procedures either after extraction of a tooth (GTAM 11,12,25) (Figure 1 (B)) or in conjunction with implant placement (Figure 1 (C)) (GTAM 5i, 8i, 10i) [Note: The lower case "i" designates membrane in conjunction with an implant.]. The GTAM membranes for ridge augmentation (GTAM 11, 12, 25) were left in place 6 to 8 weeks. The GTAM<sup>™</sup> membranes placed in conjunction with an implant (5i, 8i, 10i) were in place 2, 6, and 15 months, respectively, before retrieval. The three GTAM lines isolated from membranes around implants were not exposed to the oral cavity during the healing phase but all other membranes were at least partially exposed. The membranes for GTAM 12 and 25 were retrieved from the same patient.

#### **Isolation of Cell Lines**

After removal, the membranes were placed into Alpha Modified Eagle's Medium ( $\alpha$ MEM) (obtained from the UCSF Cell Culture Facility)

containing 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (UCSF Cell Culture Facility) and supplemented with antibiotics (100 units/ml penicillin, 0.10 mg/ml streptomycin sulfate, and 0.25  $\mu$ g/ml amphotericin B) (UCSF Cell Culture Facility). The membranes were then cut into 3x3 mm<sup>2</sup> pieces with tissue scissors and immobilized under sterile cover slips held in place on tissue culture dishes by sterile vacuum grease. The membrane "explant" was then cultured in the same medium until cells adherent to the membrane were observed migrating onto the culture dish or the lower surface of the cover slip (usually at 10 to 14 days). The cultures were incubated at 37°C and equilibrated in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and air. These cells were then detached with STV (0.05% Trypsin, 0.02% Versene [EDTA], in Saline A [0.1% glucose, 0.058% NaHCO<sub>3</sub>]) (UCSF Cell Culture Facility) and passaged in the same medium. Cells were frozen at passage three or four. This was carried out by detaching the cells with STV collecting the cells and storing the cells in 1 ml of FBS with 5% Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Fisher Scientific) at -70°C.

Human periodontal ligament cells (PDL 814) were scraped from the midroot portion of periodontally healthy bicuspids extracted for orthodontic therapy and were established as cell lines in the same medium as previously described (Richards & Rutherford, 1988). After 3 washes in phosphatebuffered solution, the PDL tissue attached to the middle third of the root was removed by scraping with a scalpel. The coronal and apical portions of the ligament were not used to avoid contamination by gingival and pulpal cells. Human gingival fibroblasts (GF-11) were obtained from distal wedge incisions over maxillary tuberosities removed during routine periodontal surgery (Richards & Rutherford, 1988). Keratinocytes (KcP<sub>4</sub>LAHCM) were cultured from the same tissue. Gingival and PDL tissue were minced into small pieces (less than 0.5 mm) and treated with 2.4 units/ml dispase (Boehringer Mannheim Biochemicals) for 10 minutes(1 unit of dispase will release Folinpositive amino acids and peptides equivalent to 1 µmol tyrosine in 1 min.). Epithelium was then separated from the underlying dermis by microscopic dissection and treated with STV for 15 minutes to produce a single-cell suspension. Keratinocytes were established from the epithelial sections and grown in keratinocyte growth medium (KGM-Clonetics) (Oda & Watso, 1990). MG-63, the osteogenic sarcoma line used as an example of a human bone cell line, was purchased from the American Type Culture Collection. CA 928 is a

squamous cell carcinoma line included as a standard on the gelatin substrate gels because of its ability to produce various metalloproteinases.

#### von Kossa Staining for Mineralized Nodule Formation

After cells were grown to confluency in 6 well plates with  $\alpha$ MEM, 10% FBS and supplemented with antibiotics (100 units/ml penicillin, 0.10 mg/ml streptomycin sulfate, and 0.25  $\mu$ g/ml amphotericin B), the medium was changed to one that is known to induce mineralized nodule formation (Bellows et al. 1990). This NGM (Nodule Growth Medium) contained  $\alpha$ MEM, 15% FBS and was supplemented with antibiotics (100 units/ml penicillin, 0.10 mg/ml streptomycin sulfate, and 0.25  $\mu$ g/ml amphotericin B), 50 $\mu$ g/ml ascorbic acid (Sigma), and 10mM ß-glycerophosphate (Sigma). Following nodule formation, cultures were fixed for 30 minutes in situ with 10% neutral buffered formalin (NBF) (Sigma), washed, and stained with the von Kossa technique for visualization of mineralized nodules (Bellows et al. 1986). This technique involved exposure to 5% aqueous silver nitrate (Sigma) for 15 minutes in the dark, then exposure in UV light for 60 minutes until the calcium salts in the wells were visibly brown. Nonspecific staining was removed from the specimens by a 2 minute washing with 5% sodium thiosulfate (Sigma) and then rinsing with distilled water 3 times for 5 minutes. Nodules were visible under light microscopy 4X (Nikon Diaphot)

#### **Gelatin Substrate Gels**

Gelatin substrate gel electrophoresis (zymography) was performed as previously described (Fisher et al., 1989). Polyacrylamide gels (10%), containing 2mg/ml pig skin, type I gelatin (Sigma), were loaded with 20 µl serum-free  $\alpha$ MEM that had been conditioned by each cell line for 72 hours (CM) and run under non-reducing conditions. CM was store at -20°C until electrophoresis was performed. The samples were not boiled or reduced, and the stacking gel did not contain substrate. CM were diluted with an equal volume of sample buffer [0.5 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8 (Tris[hydroxymethyl]aminomethane)[Fisher Scientific], 10% (v/v) glycerol[Fisher Scientific], 0.4% (v/v) SDS (sodium dodecyl sulfate)(Sigma), 0.05% (v/v) bromophenol blue(Sigma)]. The gels (0.75mm thick) were prepared in a small gel apparatus (Hoefer Scientific Instruments). The electrophoresis was done at 100V until the leading front was seen migrating to one inch from the bottom of the gel. After electrophoresis, sodium dodecyl sulfate was removed from the gels with a 2.5% Triton X-100 (Fisher Scientific) wash for one hour, and then gels were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C in Hanks balanced salt solution (UCSF Cell Culture Facility). After incubation, gels were then stained with 0.1% Coomassie Brilliant Blue R-250 dye (Bio-Rad) in water:methanol (Fisher Scientific):acetic acid (Fisher Scientific) (5:5:1, v/v) for 30 minutes and then destained with 45% methanol (v/v), 3% acetic acid. Upon destaining, cleared bands of active gelatinase activity could be detected on a blue background. Molecular weight standards were  $\beta$ -Galactosidase (MW=119K), Fructose 6-Phosphate Kinase (MW=98K), Pyruvate Kinase (MW=80K), Fumarase (MW=64K), Lactic Dehydrogenase (44K), and Triosephosphate Isomerase (39K) (BRL Inc).

#### Western Blots

 $20 \ \mu l$  aliquots of conditioned serum-free medium from each of the cell lines were analyzed by Western blots. Before analysis, total protein concentrations in each of the samples were determined by an amido black colorimetric assay (Wilson 1992). This assay consisted of prepared samples of CM compared to standard concentrations of diluted stock solutions of 2 mg/ml Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) (Pierce) The samples were prepared by adding 500 µl of sample to 50 µl of 1M Tris and 2% SDS and 150 µl 90% Trichloroacetic acid (TCA) (Fisher Scientific). This mixture was vortexed and incubated for 2 minutes at room temperature (RT). 200  $\mu$ l of 6% TCA was added to the samples and the samples were then placed in isolated spots on a Millipore<sup>®</sup> HA filters  $(0.45\mu M)$  that was washed with distilled water once placed on a holder attached to an Erlenmeyer flask hooked up to vacuum. Once all the samples were placed on the filter, the filter was washed with 10 ml 6%TCA. The filters was removed and left to stand for 12 hours. The filters were then placed in amido black stain (.1% amido black (Sigma) in 45% methanol (v/v) and 10% acetic acid (v/v) for 20 minutes. The filters were washed in distilled water 3 times for 30 minutes. The filters were then destained in 90% methanol and 2% acetic acid 2 times for 20 minutes. Final rinsing in distilled water was done 3 times for 1 minute. The filters were then blotted dry and the stained spots on the filter were cut out. These filter spots were placed in 12x75 ml tubes (Fisher Scientific) and 1 ml of elution buffer (25mM NaOH, 0.5mM EDTA, 50% EtOH) was added to each tube. The

tube was then vortexed intermittently for 10 minutes until no more dye was apparent on the filter paper. The prepared samples and BSA standards were transferred to a cuvette and read at 630 nm on a Milton Roy Spectronic 1201 spectrophotometer.

The protein concentrations of the CM were standardized to 1 mg/ml secreted cellular protein. In some instances, this required concentration of CM of the appropriate amount of protein sample. CM was placed in an Ependorf ultracentrifuge 5413 for 10 minutes, then concentrated in a Savant Speed Vac Concentrator (Model #RH 40-11) for 15 minutes. This was reconstituted in 20 µl of nonreducing sample buffer (40% glycerol, 0.25M TRIS-HCl pH 6.8, 0.8% SDS, 0.05% Bromophenol blue) before loading on 10% acrylamide mini gels (Bio-Rad). The CM was run on the mini gels at 100V until the leading front dye was seen migrating to 1 inch from the bottom of the gel. The protein was transferred to nitrocellulose paper (Whatman) by Western blotting at 300V for 45 minutes in a mini-gel transfer apparatus (Bio-Rad). To minimize nonspecific background antibody binding, blots were soaked in 5% T-Blotto (5% non-fat dried milk (Carnation), .1% (v/v) Tween-20 (Bio-Rad) in PBS (Phosphate buffered saline [UCSF Cell Culture Facility]). Blots were probed with 1/200 concentrations of primary antiserum in PBS for 1 hour, then washed twice with T-PBS buffer (.1% [v/v] Tween-20 in PBS) and incubated with 1/1000 concentrations of secondary antibody conjugated either to alkaline phosphatase as in the case of the blots to the 72K and 92K gelatinases and the TIMP-1 blot of the conditioned media of representative cell lines (Figure 7) or conjugated to Horseradish Peroxidase as in the case of the TIMP-1 blots of the Gore-tex and GTAM cell lines (Figure 9). The blots were then washed again 2 times in TBST (50mM Tris pH7.5, 150mM NaCl (Sodium Chloride)(Fisher Scientific), 0.6% Tween 20). In the blots to 72K, 92K and TIMP-1 of CM of representative lines (Figure 7 and 8), the bands were developed due to a color reaction with 66  $\mu$ l of 50 mg/ml stock solution of nitro blue tetrazolium (Promega) and 33 µl of 50 mg.ml stock solution of 5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indoyl phosphate (Promega) in 10 ml of T-PBS buffer solution. The reaction was stopped once bands were visible by diluting in distilled water. The bands on the TIMP-1 blots of the Gore-tex and GTAM lines were developed by the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) technique. This was carried out by adding 5 ml of ECL Detection Reagent 1 to 5 ml of ECL Detection reagent 2, incubating for 1 minute, and exposing both blots

simultaneously to Hyperfilm-ECL for 1 minute (Amersham Corp). Densitometric scan analysis (Scan Analysis<sup>™</sup> 2.11, Biosoft) was done on the bands on the TIMP-1 blots to quantitate relative amounts of TIMP-1 secreted into the conditioned medium of the G-tex and GTAM cell lines as compared to conditioned medium of GF-11.

Antisera to 72K and 92K gelatinases were a gift from Dr. M.S. Hibbs, University of Connecticut; antiserum to TIMP-1 was a gift from Dr. Z. Werb, University of California, San Francisco, a purified TIMP-1 protein was a gift from Dr. H. Welgus, St. Louis University.

### **Data Analysis**

The difference in TIMP-1 production between the GTAM cell lines and the Gore-tex cell lines as measured by scan densitometry was analyzed by using a two-tailed paired-difference Student *t*-test (Excel 4.0, Microsoft Corp). The difference in the time for mineralized nodule formation between the two lines was also measured by a two-tailed paired difference Student *t*-test (Excel 4.0, Microsoft Corp).

#### RESULTS

#### Morpholgy of Cell Lines

Cells adherent to Gore-tex® membranes and GTAM<sup>™</sup> were compared with human periodontal ligament cells, human gingival fibroblasts, and human keratinocytes. Except for keratinocytes, these cells were morphologically similar in that all had the spindle-shaped outline associated with fibroblasts (Figure 2). The main morphological difference was noted at confluence, when cells cultured from Gore-tex membranes tended to form palisades of interdigitating cells in repeating units. Figure 3 shows a membrane "explant" that had been left in culture until adherent cells grew to confluence and illustrates the periodicity of these cells.

#### **Mineralized Nodule formation**

The von Kossa staining to visualize mineralized nodule formation showed that all cell lines of Gore-tex and GTAM were capable of forming nodules. After cells were grown to confluency, these lines were grown in NGM until the nodules became visible by von Kossa staining. The time and pattern of staining varied among the cell lines. The gingival fibroblasts showed no staining even after growing them in NGM for 70 days (Figure 4 (A)). The PDL cells formed discrete nodules (Figure 4 (B)) after 35 days. All the Gore-tex lines also tended to form discrete nodules resembling the PDL nodules (Figure 4 (C)) after a mean average of 30.75 days  $\pm$  8.94 (Table 2). All the GTAM lines tended to show a more diffuse staining pattern (Figure 4 (D)) with a shorter time to nodule formation at a mean average of 23.67  $\pm$  4.38 days (Table 2). The difference in time for nodule formation between the two cell types was not found to be statistically significant (p = 0.063) although 4 of 6 GTAM lines formed nodules more quickly than any of the Gore-tex lines.

Dexamethasone at 10 nM is known to induce osteoprogenitor cells to differentiate as measured by the increase in the number of nodule formation *in vitro* (Bellows 1990). Growth of PDL 814, GF-11, Gore-tex, and GTAM was attempted in NGM supplemented with 10 and 1 nM dexamethasone. But because all lines except the GF-11 line did not survive more than 2 days in this medium, no further culturing was done with the addition of dexamethasone. Warters (1992) also reported apoptosis in T-cell Hybridomas when exposed increasing concentrations of dexamethasone. At the similar concentration of 10 nM, he reported about a 25% cell death rate. All cell lines were split several times in order to perform all the analyses. Separate cultures of each cell line were necessary in order to harvest the cell lines' conditioned medium (CM), freeze the cell lines for future use, and for examining nodule formation. Sufficient CM from all cell lines were collected for zymography and western blot analyses. Unfortunately, two Goretex lines were not analyzed for nodule formation. Culture dishes for Gore-tex 3 lines were contaminated prior to completion of von Kossa staining. Nodule formation for Gore-tex 27 was undetermined since this cell line proliferates too slowly and over half the cells did not survive splitting once exposed to STV for detachment off the culture dishes.



augmentation of the upper right cuspid area (tooth number 11). The number designation of the cell lines first molar (tooth number 3). (D) GTAM 11 = cells cultured from a GTAM<sup>TM</sup> membrane placed for ridge Figure 2. Morphology of isolated cell lines. (A) GF-11 = gingival fibroblasts. (B) PDL 814 = periodontal ligament cells. (C) G-tex 3 = cells cultured from a Gore-tex® membrane placed around the upper right represents the location that the membranes were placed based on the Universal numbering system. Note the similarities in cell morphology among the cell lines.



Figure 3. Cells allowed to grow to confluency ( about 4 weeks) cultured from an "explanted" Gore-tex® membrane. Arrow is pointing to the membrane. The figure illustrates pallisading of of interdigitating cells.



after 8 weeks. No staining was seen. (B) = PDL 814 cells after 5 weeks. Staining was seen in discrete nodules. (C) = G-tex 19 cells after 5 weeks. Staining was seen in discrete nodules. (D) = GTAM 11 cells Figure 4. von Kossa staining of cell lines for the formation of mineralized nodules. (A) = GF-11 cells after 3 weeks. Staining was seen in a diffuse pattern.
Α	
CELL LINE	NODULE FORMATION (DAYS)
Gore-tex 3	undetermined°
Gore-tex 18	25
Gore-tex 19	35
Gore-tex 27	undetermined•
Gore-tex 30	35
Gore-tex 31	28
Average for Gore-tex lines	30.75 ±4.38 <sup>¤</sup>
PDL 814	35
GF-11	no mineralization *

B

CELL LINE	NODULE FORMATION (DAYS)
GTAM 5i	21
GTAM 8i	25
GTAM 10i	13
GTAM 11	21
GTAM 12^	42
GTAM 25^	20
Average for GTAM lines	23.67 ±8.94 <sup>¤</sup>
PDL 814	35
GF - 11	no mineralization *

Table 2.Nodule formation for (A) Gore-tex (B) GTAM cell lines.

- ° dishes contaminated prior to completion of von Kossa staining
- - cell line proliferated too slowly for von Kossa stain determination
- \* cells grown for 70 days
- ^- cell lines cultured from same patient
- <sup>**n**</sup> p = .063 not statistically significant

## **Gelatin Substrate Gels**

Zymography separates different proteinases and inhibitor activities by electrophoresis which allows for the determination of their molecular weight  $(M_r)$  as well as other specific properties (such as molecular size changes occurring upon activation of the zymogens). Also, the size of the bands give insight to the relative abundance of the proteinase (Heussen and Dowdle 1980). Gelatin zymography detects proteinases that can degrade gelatin. The known metalloproteinases that can degrade gelatin include the collagenases (MMP-1, fibroblast type, MMP-8, PMN type) and the gelatinases (MMP-2, 72K and MMP-9, 92) and putative metalloproteinase-1 (MMP-7, PUMP-1) (Nagase et al 1992). The presence of SDS activates proenzymes without changing their apparent molecular weight (Mr) (Heussen and Dowdle 1980). Furthermore, although SDS may dissociate some MMP-TIMP complexes or prometalloproteinase-TIMP complexes, some higher molecular weight complexes is still seen. The unactivated proenzymes of the known MMPs are seen as one clear band except MMP-1, fibroblast-type collagenase. MMP-1 is a doublet at around 55K (57K-52K) since there are two forms of the proenzyme (Eisen et al. 1970, Stricklin et al. 1977).

Gelatin substrate gels (zymography) demonstrate that the gelatinase profiles of conditioned media from all the cell types were different (Figure 5 and 6). The Keratinocyte line exhibit a prominent band at 92K and a faint doublet at 55K (Figure 5 and 6). The CA 928 line was used as a standard to show the various bands of gelatinases and collagenases (Figure 6). It forms a prominent band at 92K, 72K, a doublet at 55K and a doublet at about 40K. The MG-63 line exhibits a very prominent band at 72K, a faint doublet at 55K and some higher molecular weight bands (Figure 5). The GF-11 line also exhibits multiple banding (Figure 5 and 6) with a prominent band at 72K, a doublet at 55K. The PDL 814 line exhibits bands at 72K, a faint doublet at 55K, and banding at higher molecular weights (Figure 5).

The GTAM lines exhibit fairly consistent banding patterns on the gels (Figure 6). Gels of GTAM lines all contain a doublet at 55K. All but the GTAM 12 show a band at 72K. The GTAM 11 and 25 have multiple banding patterns and a band at 92K. Also, GTAM 11 exhibits a prominent doublet at about 85K. GTAM 5i, 8i, and 10i only show the 72K and the doublet at 55K. The GTAM 12 line shows only the 55K doublet.

Banding pattern of the Gore-tex lines overlaps those of the other cell types. Gore-tex 3 and 18 have a banding pattern most resembling the PDL 814 (Figure 5 and 6), with bands at 72K, 55K doublet, and higher molecular weight bands. Gore-tex 19 and 30 show a similar banding pattern to those seen in the GTAM lines with bands at 72K and a doublet at 55K. Gore-tex 27 and 31 have multiple banding patterns with all the bands mentioned above plus additional higher molecular weight bands. Furthermore, Gore-tex 27 also has one prominent band at about 30K, not seen in any other cell line.



Figure 5. Gelatin zymogram of representative cell lines. Abbreviations are as listed in the table of abbreviations. Molecular masses in kilodaltons are indicated to the left of the figure. Note the similar banding pattern between G-tex 3 and 814 PDL. Both have a faint doublet at 55K, a prominent band at 72K, and higher molecular weight bands. GTAM 11 shows a prominent band at 72K, a doublet at 55K, a faint band at 92K, a prominent doublet at 85K, and higher molecular weight bands. The MG-63 shows a prominent band at 72K, a faint doublet at 55K, and higher molecular weight bands.





Figure 6. Gelatin zymogram of cell lines cultured from (A) Gore-tex and (B)GTAM membranes. The number designation of the cell lines represents the location that the membrane was placed based on the Universal numbering system. Small case "i" designates a GTAM placed in conjunction with an implant. Other abbreviations are as listed in the table of abbreviations. Molecular masses in kilodaltons are indicated to the left of the figures. Note the similar banding pattern of GTAM 5i, 8i, 10i,and 11. Multiple banding seen with GTAM 25. GTAM 25 shows a band at 92K. No 72K gelatinase apparent in GTAM 12. Note the similar banding patterns of Gore-tex 19 and 30 to the GTAM lines. Gore-tex 18 is similar but with an additional band at 92K and some faint higher molecular weight bands. Multiple banding seen with GTAM 31. Also, Gore-tex 27 shows a prominent band at 30K. All Gore-tex and GTAM lines show a doublet banding at 55K.

## Western Blots

Bands at 72K were identified as being the 72K gelatinase by probing Western blots of conditioned medium from the cell lines with a polyclonal antiserum raised against a synthetic peptide corresponding to a portion of the sequence for human 72K gelatinase. The antiserum reacted strongly with this band in the cells harvested from G-tex 3, from PDL 814, and GF-11. Weaker banding was seen with the MG-63 and the GTAM 11. No binding was seen in keratinocytes, even though this lane was loaded with five times the amount of sample used for the other lanes.

The band on zymograms at 92K from keratinocytes was identified as the 92K gelatinase by probing a second Western blot with a polyclonal antiserum raised against the whole purified human enzyme (Unemori et al. 1991). The antiserum detected a band at 92K in keratinocytes as well as a band at 72K in MG-63 cells. This antiserum has previously been shown to crossreact with the 72K gelatinase in human synovial fibroblasts (Unemori et al. 1991). No other bands were seen on this blot, although GTAM 11 appears to have a faint band comigrating at 92K on the substrate gel (Figure 5).

Although analysis of the Western blot of the 92K gelatinase revealed no bands in the GTAM 11 lane (Figure 7(A)), there appeared to be a band at 92K comigrating with the prominent 92K band seen in the keratinocyte line on the substrate gel (Figure 5).

This apparent discrepancy between immunoblotting and zymography techniques has been reported by other investigators. Apodaca et al. (1990) reported a similar finding when looking at immunoprecipitation of collagenase. They reported definite bands on the substrate gel pertaining to the doublet produced by collagenase that was not detected by immunoprecipitation. They suggested that the substrate gel is more sensitive than immunoprecipitation. Adler et al. (1990) has suggested comigrating bands seen on zymograms may be due to uncharacterized metalloproteinases.

Western blots were also probed with poylclonal antiserum to TIMP-1 (Figure 8 and 9). All cell lines produced a band at about 30K. These were seen in MG-63, GTAM 11 and 25, Gore-tex 27 and 31, and GF-11. By densitometric scanning, the bands were analyzed for relative amounts of TIMP-1 production compared with GF-11 TIMP-1 production on the same blot. Although not statistically significant (p = .265), the GTAM lines tended to produce more TIMP-1 (Table 3) (average was  $1.00 \pm .53$  [Note: The 1.00 average designates that TIMP-1 production from GTAM was equal to TIMP-1 production from GF-11]). The Gore-tex lines produced lower amounts ( $.63 \pm .47$ ). The PDL and the keratinocytes produced the lowest amounts of TIMP-1, .17 and .05, respectively. Higher molecular weight bands were also seen in the GTAM 11 and 25, Gore-tex 18, 27, 31, MG-63, and GF-11. The amount of TIMP-1 did not appear to correspond to the time for nodule formation (Table 3). However, only GTAM and Gore-tex lines that had a band at 92K on substrate gels (Figure 5 and 6), showed higher molecular weight complexes on the TIMP Western blots (Figure 8 and 9).





Figure 7. Western blot of conditioned media from representative cell lines to (A) the 92K gelatinase and (B) the 72K gelatinase. Molecular masses in kilodaltons are indicated to the left. Note on (A) the KcP4LAHCM line shows a band at the 92K and there is a cross-reactivity band near 70K for the MG-63. Note on (B) the KcP4LAHCM does not show a band at 72K. All other lines show a band at 72K. The GTAM 11 band at 72K is faint.



Figure 8. Western blot to TIMP-1 of conditioned media from representative cell lines. Molecular masses in kilodaltons are indicated. The last lane is a purified TIMP-1 standard. Note G-tex 3 produced more TIMP-1 than GF-11. Also note higher molecular weight bands in the MG-63 and GTAM 11 lanes.



Figure 9. Western blot to TIMP-1 of conditioned media from (A) Gore-tex and (B) GTAM lines. The number designation of the cell lines represents the location that the membrane was placed based on the Universal numbering system. Small case "i" designates a GTAM placed in conjunction with an implant. Other abbreviations are as listed in the table of abbreviations. Molecular masses in kilodaltons are indicated to the left of the figures. Note that all cell lines show some TIMP-1 production. Production of TIMP-1 is less in the KcP4LAHCM and PDL 814 lines. Overall, the GTAM cell lines produce more TIMP-1 than the Gore-tex lines. Also note higher molecular weight bands in the Gore-tex 27 and 31, GTAM 11 and 25, and the GF-11.

-	MP-1 ·····	Gelatinase	Collagenase	Other gelatinase	Nodule formation
	ctiont®a/ iaher	production	production	and collagenase productiont	(Days) <sup>v</sup>
	lecular	9993 I		<b>þ</b>	
	nt bands $\pi$				
	1.22	72K	55K - doublet	2	21
	1.06	72K	55K - doublet	1	25
	.43	72K	55K - doublet	1	13
<u> </u>	+ / 00	92K,72K	55K - doublet	++	21
	.51	1	55K - doublet	1	42
ΩQ	+ / 08	92K,72K	55K - doublet	++++	20
	1.52	72K	55K - doublet	Ŧ	undetermined°
	/3 / +	92K,72K	55K - doublet	+	25
	.45	72K	55K - doublet	1	35
0	+ / 20	92K,72K	55K - doublet	++++	undetermined•
	.22	72K	55K - doublet	1	35
	+ / 6,	92K,72K	55K - doublet	* * * *	28
	.17	72K	55K - doublet	Ŧ	35
	1.00	72K	55K - doublet	+++	no mineralization*
	.05	92K	55K - doublet	++	no mineralization

Table 3.Summary table of results

Table 3. Summary table of results.

- + expressed as a ratio of scanned densitometric units of cell line to the corresponding gingival fibroblasts on same blot. GTAM lines/GF (48809) (Figure 9 (B)), Gore-tex/GF (52318) (Figure 9 (A), Gore-tex 3/GF (47178) (Figure 8)
- $\emptyset$  GTAM average = 1.00 ± .53 Gore-tex average = .63 ± .47
- p p = .265 not statistically significant
- $\pi$  as shown on the Western blots of TIMP (Figure 8 and 9)
- ‡ as shown on the corresponding gelatin zymography (+ = relative amounts of other bands present on gel) (Figure 5 and 6 (A) & (B))
- $\diamond$  p = .063 not statisitically significant
- -- no bands present
- ^- cell lines cultured from same patient
- ° dishes contaminated prior to completion of von Kossa staining
- - cell line proliferated too slowly for von Kossa stain determination
- \* cells grown 70 days

### DISCUSSION

## **Cell Cultures and Mineralized Nodule Formation**

Guided tissue regeneration relies on manipulating the sequence of healing in surgical wounds to favor repopulation of the wound site with cells that can regenerate either bone, cementum, and periodontal ligament in the case of periodontal defects or bone as in ridge augmentation. Selvig et al. (1990 and 1992) and Machtei et al. (1994) have discussed fibroblast-like cells adherent to Gore-tex® membranes after regenerative procedures around teeth. Culturing these cells adherent to the membranes was therefore a logical consequence of these observations and proved to be a readily available means of obtaining regenerative cells for further investigation.

This manuscript reports a novel way to culture cells adherent to barrier membranes. All cell lines cultured from both the Gore-tex® and the GTAM<sup>™</sup> membranes had the fibroblast-like shape reported by Selvig et al. (1990 and 1992) and Machtei et al. (1994) (Figure 2). and had similar morphologies especially when subconfluent. It was not until the cells were grown to confluency that some differences became visible. No orientation was evident with the GF-11 or GTAM lines. However, the lines from the Gore-tex® membranes tended to form palisading units in rows (Figure 3). This was also seen with a PDL cell line isolated from unerupted third molars (data not shown) and to some extent in the PDL 814 line from bicuspids. Garant and Cho (1979) have shown that rat and mouse PDL cells maintain a cytoplasmic polarization in vivo. They tend to have their nuclei at one end with the organelles on the other. They are also elongated with their long axes parallel to the principal fiber bundles. Cho et al. (1992) reported this same orientation was retained in PDL cells cultured in vitro. This cell growth pattern was similar in the Gore-tex® lines.

All cell lines from the Gore-tex® and GTAM<sup>TM</sup> membranes had the capability to form mineralized nodules when grown in the presence of ascorbic acid and  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate. Although not statistically significant, the Gore-tex cell lines tended to form nodules more slowly and in a discrete pattern (Figure 4 (C)) and (Table 2 and 3)]. GTAM lines tended to show a more diffuse pattern of staining [(Figure 4 (D)). The Gore-tex cell lines tended to form nodules about the same time and had a similar discrete pattern as the 814 PDL line [(Figure 4 (B)) and (Table 2 and 3)]. This was maybe due in part to the similar palisading growth pattern. Also, this observation may suggest

that the Gore-tex and the PDL 814 lines have a more heterogeneous population of cells, consisting of cells that can form mineralized nodules (i.e. osteoblasts and cementoblasts) and those which can't (i.e. undifferentiated precursor cells and fibroblasts). GTAM lines may be more homogenous consisting of only osteoblasts and their precursors.

Various studies have reported different additional requirements in order to induce mineralized nodule formation. Cho et al. (1992) reported that PDL cells formed nodules only when cultured in medium containing 50  $\mu$ g/ml ascorbic acid and 5  $\mu$ M dexamethasone, not in β-glycerophosphate. Bellows et al. (1990) reported that 10 nM dexamethasone, a synthetic steroid, can induce osteoprogenitor cells to differentiate as measured by increased nodule formation. However, Warters (1992) reported a 25% cell death rate of T-cell hybridomas exposed to 10nM dexamethasone. Dexamethasone was also added to the growth medium of the Gore-tex, GTAM, and PDL 814 cell lines. None of the cell lines survived exposure to the dexamethasone at 10 nM or 1 nM. Melcher et al. (1986) has reported that PDL cells were not capable of mineralized nodule formation but cells cultured from fetal rat calvariae could form cementum-like tissue when cultured with 10mM ßglycerophosphate and 50  $\mu$ g/ml ascorbic acid. Recently Mukai et al (1993) demonstrated bone-like nodules formed by rat PDL cells cultured with 10mM  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate and 50  $\mu$ g/ml ascorbic acid. Differences in the reports could be due to variations in culturing and technique. Melcher et al (1986) used cells at the 11th passage whereas Mukai used cells at the 4th passage. Only cells at the 4th passage were used in the experiments of this thesis. Further studies exploring the mechanism of additives in the culture media of osteoprogenitors and regnerative cells should be initiated.

Qualitative differences between the nodules formed by cell lines have been reported. Mukai et al. (1993) reported nodules from PDL cells looked bone-like with elements of cells incorporated into the matrix, a collagenous matrix, a mineral composed of hydroxyapatite, and intense alkaline phosphatase activity. Cho et al (1992) reported nodules from PDL cells lacked elements seen in a mineralized matrix of bone such as cells within the matrix which would be suggestive of osteoblasts or osteocytes. Also, they reported a polarity of cells which is indicative of PDL cells *in vivo*. However, even Mukai et al. (1993) admitted that since there are no available markers to distinguish cementum from bone or cementoblasts from osteoblasts *in vitro*, they could not rule out that the matrix was cellular cementum. Although no scanning electron microscopy was done in this study, the qualitative differences of the overall staining patterns and the difference in time to nodule formation could be suggestive of two types of nodule formation.

# MMPs of a PDL Cell Line (814 PDL)

No data describing substrate gels of periodontal ligament cell lines has been published. Gels of CM of PDL 814 revealed bands at 72K, a faint doublet at 55K and complex banding at higher molecular weights (Figure 5). Therefore, this suggests this line can produce the 72K gelatinase and collagenase. From *in vitro* observations, others (Gould 1983, McCulloch 1985, Roberts et al. 1987, Piche et al. 1989, Somerman et al. 1990 & 1992 Hou & Yeager 1993) have found the cell population harvested from the periodontal ligament is heterogenous. PDL 814 would be a representation of one PDL subpopulation. It will be interesting to compare these findings to future investigations of PDL profiles on gelatin substrate gels and correlate these results with clinical significance.

# MMPs of GTAM and Gore-tex Lines

Several significant finidings have been discovered from analysis of the gelatin zymography of the Gore-tex and GTAM lines. The most prominent was the fact that all the Gore-tex and GTAM lines were able to synthesize MMP-1, the fibroblast type collagenase (55K doublet) and all but one line (GTAM 12) showed a band at 72K. Johansen et al. (1992) showed that in three separate human osteoblastic cell cultures (cultured from trabecular bone of femoral heads), the major proteins secreted were the 72K gelatinase, osteonectin, the C-terminal propeptides of the  $\alpha_1$ - and  $\alpha_2$  chains of type I collagen, TIMP-1, and  $\beta_2$  macroglobulin. On the other hand, normal fetal osteoblastic cells from one 20-week old human fetus secreted osteonectin and the C-terminal propeptides of the  $\alpha_1$ - and  $\alpha_2$  chains of type I collagen. Gelatinase and TIMP could not be detected. Therefore, they concluded that fetal osteoblasts primarily express proteins that are matrix constituents, whereas the adult human osteoblasts secrete additional proteins that function in matrix turnover.

Recently, Rifas et al. (1994) also reported that fully differentiated human osteoblasts released copious amounts of 72K gelatinase and TIMP-1 and TIMP-2. Only a very faint band was seen at 55K regardless of whether the cells were grown on plastic or a type I collagen substratum. Even after incubation with bone resorptive factors (parathyroid hormone, Phorbol 12 myristate 13-acetate, 1,25-(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>, human recombinant Interleukin-1ß [hr IL-1ß], human recombinant tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  [hrTNF- $\alpha$ ], very little collagenase was induced in the osteoblast lines. On the other hand osteogenic tumor lines produced collagenase and this production could be increased if bone resorptive factors were added. Collagenase production tended to be greater in the lines that produced less alkaline phosphatase (Alk P'tase). Alk P'tase was used as a marker for differentiation, with greater enzymatic reactivity implying greater differentiation in the osteogenic tumor lines. Therefore, they concluded less collagenase is produced in more differentiated osteoblast-like cells and less differentiated osteoblast-like cells could be induced to produce collagenase in the presence of bone resorptive factors.

Meikle et al. (1992) showed that human osteoblasts cultured from adult trabecular bone of the femoral head can also be induced by PTH or monocyte conditioned medium to secrete collagenase, 92K gelatinase and stromelysin. They found that stimulation was greater if osteoblasts were cultured on type I collagen films. If the osteoblasts were cultured on glass slides and unstimulated, they did not produce collagenase, 92K, or stromelysin. These two papers indicate that less differentiated osteoblasts can be induced to produce collagenase and bone nodules. These considerations suggest that the GTAM cell lines represent less differentiated osteoblastic lines that can produce mineralized nodules and have responded to cytokine signals in vivo prior to harvesting (because they produce the induced 55K collagenase). Furthermore, these characteristics are retained when cultured on plastic culture dishes *in vitro*. Future studies to confirm this finding could be pursued such as investigating whether collagenase mRNA transcription is increased in these regenerative cells is increased after exposure to TNF- $\alpha$  or IL-1ß.

The three GTAM lines retrieved around implants (GTAMi's) had very similar banding patterns on the substrate gels. They all produced only the 72K gelatinase and the 55K doublet. The GTAM lines retrieved after ridge augmentations showed more variability. The GTAM 11 and 25 showed multiple bands, whil the GTAM 12 line showed only the doublet at 55K. Part of the explanation could be due to the fact that the three GTAMi's were left in

place longer (at least 3 months) and were not exposed. The ridge augmentation GTAMs were left in at a shorter interval regardless of exposure. This could possibly mean that the GTAMi lines represented more mature cells. Lekholm et al. (1993) examined the effect of early versus late removal of GTAM membranes around implants in dogs over a 16 week interval. They reported that sockets with implants and membranes left in place for the duration of the 16 weeks had 100% bone fill. Sockets with implants where the membrane and the regenerated tissue were removed after 4 weeks then reentered at 16 weeks had 42% bone fill. Interestingly enough, the sockets where the membranes were removed (after 4 weeks) but the regenerative tissue was left intact, showed the least amount of fill (21%). The removed regenerative tissue after 4 weeks showed inflamed connective tissue, containing spicules of newly formed bone. Possibly, exposure of the immature regenerative tissue after membrane removal triggered the inflammatory cells to release cytokines that initiated the cascade of events that lead to further resorption of this new regenerative tissue.

Resorption of bone is believed to be caused by the coordination of osteoblastic and osteoclastic activity. Mineralized bone is resorbed by osteoclasts (Chambers 1980). The coordination is hypothesized because in mouse calvaria, when osteoclasts and osteoblasts are exposed to bone resorbing agents, only osteoblasts can produce collagenase (MMP-1) (Heath et al., 1984 and Sakamoto & Sakamoto 1984). Delaisse et al. (1988) also have reported that bone-resorbing agents (IL-1ß, TNF- $\alpha$ , 1,25-(OH)2D3, PTH) cause an accumulation of procollagenase in the nonmineralized matrix of mouse calvaria and that degradation of this nonmineralized matrix can be inhibited by a purified preparation of human TIMP. Chambers et al. (1985) hypothesized that it is this degradation of the unmineralized matrix that initiates the degradation of mineralized matrix by osteoclasts. It is possible that the tissue seen under GTAM membranes represents an extension of the nonmineralized matrix of bone and that this matrix is highly susceptible to collagenases.

Although Rifas et al. (1994) stated that mature human osteoblasts are not capable of collagenase production even in the presence of bone resorbing agents or monocyte conditioned medium, it is apparent that cells under GTAM membranes in this study are capable of not only producing mineralized nodules but also producing collagenase that can contribute to the

degradation of this tissue. Two lines, GTAM 11 and 25, were also shown to produce multiple molecular weight banding with more collagenases and gelatinases, and this may lead to a greater potential to contribute to the degradation of this immature tissue.

The observation of multiple MMP production may be significant in clinical treatment. Lekholm et al. (1993) have reported results suggesting that the least bone fill was seen in test sites where the membrane but not the regenerative tissue was removed after 4 weeks. Removal of the membrane requires a second surgical procedure that will again initiate the cascade of events of wound repair. One of the consequences includes the recruitment of leukocytes. These leukocytes will release cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ which are known to stimulate collagenase production. Ellies and Aubin (1990) have reported that cytokine release at sites of inflammation and infection may alter normal bone remodeling process resulting in pathologic bone destruction or bone formation. The osteoblasts, although capable of bone formation might be triggered to release copious amounts of collagenase that may offset any bone regeneration. This could also help explain why most studies on the clinical results of guided tissue regeneration with Gore-tex® report recession and shrinkage at the regenerated site (Handelsman 1991, McClain & Schallhorn 1993, Blumenthal 1993, Cortellini et al. 1993).

In this study, the GTAM membranes that were exposed and all the Gore-tex® membranes showed variable banding patterns. The coronal portion of Gore-tex® membranes are usually exposed because they are abutted next to the tooth surface and some recession of the gingival tissue is usually expected. There is therefore communication between the regenerating site and the oral cavity. In their study of the use of ePTFE membranes in dogs, Haney et al. (1993) reported that complete gingival coverage of the barrier membrane appeared critical for optimal healing. They reported that exposure of the membrane exhibited an inflammatory infiltrate underneath the membrane and none or minimal bone regeneration. The lack of bone regeneration in this instance may be mediated by cytokines released by the inflammatory infiltrate causing increase MMP production in these regenerative cells, thereby degrading the newly formed osteoid matrix.

Overall, the Gore-tex lines had variable enzymatic profiles. Two cell lines (Gore-tex 19 and 30) were similar to the profiles of the GTAMi's, two cell lines (Gore-tex 3 and 18) were similar to PDL 814, and two cell lines (Gore-tex

27 and 31) had very unique multiple banding patterns. This variability accentuated the heterogeneity of these cell lines. This overlap is not surprising if one considers all the complex events that must take place to fully regenerate hard and soft tissues under these membranes. One would expect to find a variety of cells adherent to these membranes with osteoblast-like qualities, PDL cell-like qualities, and fibroblast-like qualities.

High molecular weight banding patterns seen in some GTAM and Gore-tex lines may be associated with increased migration of these cells. Yamada et al. (1990) have shown that cells can be seen migrating on curretted root surfaces up to 7mm from the base of the denuded root surfaces after 7 weeks of healing under membranes. Fisher et al. (1989) have shown that there is a temporal and spatial regulation of MMP production in cytotrophoblasts cells *in vitro*. They showed a greater production of higher molecular weight complexes in the extracts of cells during the first trimester when the cytotrophoblasts are most actively invading and migrating. Apodaca et al. (1990) noted normal astrocytes also produced these multiple banding patterns when induced by inflammatory mediators that may be important in the migration of these cells. Others (Adler et al. 1990, Bernhard et al. 1990) have shown that production of MMP is associated with invasion and metastasis of tumor lines.

In the case of guided tissue regeneration, cells travel a relatively large distance (periodontal defects can be up to 1-1.5 cm). This may be facilitated by degradation of granulation tissue by cellular secretion of MMPs and other matrix degrading enzymes. Salo et al. (1994) reported that the granulation tissue in wound healing has a high quantity of MMP-9 (92K gelatinase) which is not associated with macrophages. Their results suggest that other cell types, such as endothelial cells and fibroblasts, may participate in MMP-9 expression in the granulation tissue. MMP-9 is known to degrade fibronectin (Partridge et al. 1993) which may be important for cells to migrate through a fibrinfibronectin matrix. Further studies looking at the ability of these regenerate cells to migrate should be addressed.

The Gore-tex 27 line is unique. Not only did it produce multiple high molecular weight proteases, but it produced a prominent band at about 30K that was not seen in any other line. This band may represent PUMP-1 (MMP-7). PUMP-1 was first isolated in the postpartum rat uterus (Woessner and Talpin 1988) and has been shown to have a wide spectrum of substrates that

includes casein, gelatins, fibronectin, and proteoglycan. Murphy et al. (1989) provided evidence that PUMP-1 also degrades type IV collagen and elastin. Murphy et al. (1989) found mRNA transcripts to PUMP-1 in the involuting uterus and Miyazaki et al. (1990) reported that after a survey of conditioned media from 30 nonmalignant and malignant human cell lines, only one rectal carcinoma line secreted PUMP-1. They reported that PUMP-1 shows a band at 28K on gelatin substrate gels. Marti et al. (1992) isolated PUMP-1 from conditioned medium of mesangial cells of the kidney glomerulus. This was mediated by synergistic induction with IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . They also showed that PUMP-1 is expressed *in vivo* during an acute glomerular inflammatory process. Overall and Sodek (1990) reported that normal human fibroblasts secrete PUMP-1 when induced by Concanavalin A (Con A). Con A, a lectin from the jack bean plant (Conavalia ensiforms), induces a resorptive cellular phenotype in human fibroblasts by binding to saccharides containing  $\alpha$ -D glucose and D-fructose (Rosenblith et al 1973). They speculate that because this enzyme exhibits such a broad substrate activity, secretion of PUMP-1 may contribute to further injury. Previously, this enzyme has not been reported in regnerative tissue. Secretion of this broad spectrum degradative enzyme may potentiate degradation of regenerative tissue and compromise the outcome. Further efforts to purify this 30K protein from the Gore-tex 27 line should be pursued.

Furthermore, only after induction, certain normal human cells have been shown to produce PUMP-1 *in vitro*.. The only other cell line reported to produce PUMP-1 is a tumor line. The Gore-tex 27 cell line retains the ability to produce PUMP-1 on plastic culture dishes without induction, transformation, or the addition of any outside agent. Therefore, culturing of regenerative cells from periodontal membranes could prove to be an invaluable source from which the study of induced normal human cell lines can be investigated.

## **TIMP-1** Production

TIMP-1 production has been associated with the maintenance and formation of bone. As stated above, Johansen et al. (1992) found that human osteoblasts secrete a copious amount of TIMP. Everts et al. (1993) examined TIMP in rabbit calvarial bone explants with immunolabeling. They found that TIMP was in higher concentrations in osteoblast-like cells lining both the outer bone surface as well as the endosteal spaces and in osteocyte lacunae. The periosteum was almost negative. Therefore, it is suggested that TIMP is important in the basal remodeling and turnover of bone. Furthermore, Meikle et al. (1991) reported that in mouse calvaria, free TIMP in the culture medium was associated with less bone resorption. Nomura et al. (1989) reported a high expression of TIMP in mouse osteogenic structures such as the calvaria using antisense RNA probes to TIMP. Although not statistically significant (p = 0.063), in the GTAM lines, there was a tendency for higher TIMP production than was seen in GF-11 or Gore-tex lines. Lack of statistical significance may be related to the relative small number of cell lines and the overlapping characteristics that the various Gore-tex lines share with the GF-ll and the GTAM lines. The role of TIMP as an inhibitor of matrix degradation and bone resorption has been proven; however, the extent of its actions in periodontal regeneration has not been established.

TIMPs have also been shown to form high molecular weight complexes with MMPs. TIMP-1 has been shown to form complexes with 92K gelatinase (Wilhelm et al. 1989) and the active form of fibroblast collagenase (Welgus et al. 1985) whereas, TIMP-2 aggregates with 72K gelatinase(Goldberg et al. 1989). In the absence of TIMP-1, 92K gelatinase has been shown to form a dimer and a complex with fibroblast collagenase which is active against both gelatin and fibrillar type I collagen (Goldberg et al. 1992). This complexing of 92K may explain the presence of some of the higher molecular weight banding patterns seen on the substrate gels and the higher molecular weight bandings observed on the TIMP Western blots.

## **CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS**

Although this report does not correlate the clinical outcome of the regenerative procedures with the characteristics of the cell cultures established *in vitro*, some findings from this study may have an impact on the procedural aspects of periodontal regeneration. First, all cells migrating and adhering to the barrier membranes used around periodontal defects as well as alveolar ridge and implant augmentation defects have been shown to be capable of forming mineralized nodules. Therefore, full bone regeneration should be possible.

Precise spatiotemporal constraints and regulations are necessary in order to gain new attachment instead of repair. This probably requires breakdown of a series of matrices by a variety of the MMPs and other degradative enzymes. The sequence of MMP expression may be critical to induce regeneration rather than repair. Lynch et al. (1989) showed that a single topical application of  $1 \mu g/ml$  of Platelet-derived Growth factor (PDGF) and Insulin-like growth factor (IGF) in an aqueous gel on root surfaces after root debridement enhanced the regeneration of new cementum and bone formation in dogs. Since these agents may affect production of MMPs, further studies investigating the role of cytokines and MMPs in regeneration should be addressed.

The finding that collagenase was produced in all cell lines cultured may have important consequences. Collagenase was produced even from the cell line cultured from the GTAM<sup>™</sup> membrane retrieved after 15 months. This implies that some resorption of the mineralized tissue can be expected after any membrane removal. In some lines, multiple collagenases and gelatinases were produced. The events leading to the production of degradative enzymes are unclear, but could be due to a combination of factors such as exposure or early maturation of the tissue (prior to 8 weeks). The Gore-tex® Guided Tissue Regeneration Workshop Manual (1992) advocates the removal of material 4 to 6 weeks postoperatively. This might seem premature since prolonging removal of the nonresorbable membrane may increase regenerated bone (Lekholm et al 1993) and inhibit release of factors that can induce osteoblasts to release more collagenase. Such a protocol may preserve the regenerative tissue.

Membrane exposure may impair regeneration. As seen in the Haney et al. (1993) study, exposure of the membrane resulted in a greater inflammatory

infiltrate with less favorable clinical results. The cells adherent to the unexposed GTAM<sup>™</sup> membranes tended to produce the least amount of collagenase which may be due to less exposure to inflammatory mediators. Therefore, exposure of membranes should be avoided at all cost. This could be facilitated by vertical releasing incisions to coronally reposition the flap or to allow for laterally sliding pedicles over the membranes. Flaps sutured passively over the membrane to gain primary closure should therefore be a goal of the clinician to produce more favorable results.

Because inflammatory mediators such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  can cause increased collagenase production in osteoblasts (Meikle et al. 1993), steps should be taken to minimize inflammation in the regenerative site. This can be facilitated by good oral hygiene and plaque debridement before, during, and after guided tissue regenerative procedures. Maintenance of these areas must be a priority since these areas may still be susceptible to breakdown many weeks after retrieval of the membrane.

Guided tissue regeneration offers the periodontist another invaluable modality for the treatment of periodontal defects and alveolar ridge defects. Although full regeneration of these defects is seldom reported with current methods available, partial regeneration of these defects improves the prognosis for these teeth. A comprehensive understanding of the spatiotemporal mechanisms involved in the processes of regeneration and repair will aid in achieving more predictable clinical results.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Adler RR, Brenner CA, Werb Z. Expression of extracellular matrix-degrading metalloproteinase inhibitors is developmentally regulated during endoderm differentiation of embryonal carcinoma cells. <u>Development</u>. 110: 211-220, 1990.
- Aleo JJ, DeRenzis FA, Farber PA. *In vitro* attachment of human gingival fibroblasts to root surfaces. <u>I. Perio</u>. 46: 639-645, 1975.
- Apodaca G. Rutka JT, Bouhana K, Berens ME, Giblin JR, Rosenblum ML, McKerrow JH, Banda MJ. Expression of metalloproteinases and metalloproteinase inhibitors by fetal astrocytes and glioma cells. <u>Cancer Res.</u> 50: 2322-2329, 1990.
- Arceo N, Sauk JJ, Moehring J, Foster RA, Somerman MJ. Human periodontal cells initiate mineral-like nodules *in vitro*. <u>J. Clin. Perio.</u> 62: 499-503, 1991.
- Aukhil I, Pettersson E, Suggs C. Periodontal wound healing in the absence of periodontal ligament cells. <u>J. Perio.</u> 58:2 71-77, 1987.
- Becker W, Becker B, Berg L, Prichard J, Caffesse R, Rosenberg E. New attachment after treatment with root isolation procedures: Report for treated Class III and Class II furcations and vertical osseous defects. <u>Int.</u> <u>J. Perio. & Rest. Dent.</u> 3: 9-23, 1988.
- Becker W, Becker BE. Guided tissue regeneration for implants placed into extraction sockets and for implant dehiscences: Surgical techniques and case report. Int. J. Perio. & Rest. Dent. 10: 376-91, 1990.
- Bellows CG, Aubin JE, Heersche JNM, Antosz ME. Mineralized bone nodules formed *in vitro* from enzymatically released rat calvaria cell populations. <u>Calcif. Tissue Int.</u> 38:143-154, 1986.
- Bellows CG, Heersche JNM, Aubin JE. Determination of the capacity for proliferation and differentiation of osteoprogenitor cells in the presence and absence of dexamethasone. <u>Developmental Biology</u> 140:132-138, 1990.
- Bernhard EJ, Muschel RJ, Hughes EN. M<sub>r</sub> 92,000 gelatinase release correlates with the metastatic phenotype in transformed rat embryo cells. <u>Cancer</u> <u>Res.</u> 50: 3872-3877, 1990.

- Birkedal-Hansen H, Moore WGI, Bodden MK, Windsor LJ, Birkedal-Hansen
  B, DeCarlo A, Engler JA. Matrix Metalloproteinases: A review. <u>Critical</u> <u>Review in Oral Bio. and Med.</u> 4: 197-250, 1993.
- Blumenthal NM. A clinical comparison of collagen membranes with e-PTFE membranes in the treatment of human mandibular buccal class II furcation defects. <u>I. Perio.</u> 64: 925-933, 1993.
- Bowers GM. A technique for submerging vital roots with associated intrabony defects. Int. J. Perio. and Rest. Dent. 6: 34-51, 1988.
- Boyko GA, Melcher AH, Brunette DM. Formation of new periodontal ligament by periodontal ligament cells implanted *in vivo* after culture *in vitro*. <u>J. Perio. Res.</u> 16:73-88, 1981.
- Buser D, Dula K, Belser U, Hirt H-P, Berthold H. Localized ridge augmentation using guided bone regeneration. I. Surgical procedure in the maxilla. Int. J. Perio & Rest Dent. 13:1 29-45, 1993.
- Byers MR et al. Mesencephalic trigeminal sensory neurons of the cat: Axon pathways and structure of mechanoreceptive endings in periodontal ligaments. <u>J. Comp. Neurol.</u> 250(2): 181-191, 1986.
- Byers MR, Matthews B. Autoradiographic demonstration of ipsilateral and contralateral sensory nerve endings in cat dentin, pulp, and periodontium. <u>Anat. Record</u>. 201: 249-60, 1981.
- Byers MR. Sensory innervation of periodontal ligament of rat molars consists of unencapsulated Ruffini-like mechanoreceptors and free nerve endings. <u>J. Comp. Neurol.</u> 231(4): 500-518, 1985.
- Caffesse RG, Smith BA, Duff B, Morrison EC, Merril D, Becker W. Class II furcations treated by guided tissue regeneration in humans: Case reports. J. Perio. 61: 510-514, 1990.
- Chambers TJ, Darby JA, Fuller K. Mammalian collagenase predisposes bone surfaces to osteoclastic resorption. <u>Cell Tissue Res.</u> 241: 671-675, 1985.
- Chambers TJ. The cellular basis of bone resorption. <u>Clin Orthop. Rel Res.</u> 151: 283-293, 1980.
- Cho M-I, Matsuda N, Lin W-L, Moshier A, Ramakrishnan. *In vitro* formation of mineralized nodules by periodontal ligament cells from the rat. <u>Calcif. Tissue Int.</u> 50: 459-467, 1992.
- Chua CC, Chua BH. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces mRNA for collagenase and TIMP in human skin fibroblasts. <u>Connect. Tiss. Res.</u> 25 (2): 161-170, 1990.

- Chung KM, Salkin LM, Stein MD, Freedman AL. Clinical evaluation of a biodegradable collagen membrane in guided tissue regeneration. J. <u>Perio.</u> 61: 732-736, 1990.
- Clark RAF, Lanigan JM, DellaPelle P, Manseau E, Dvorak H, Colvin R. Fibronectin and fibrin provide a provisional matrix for epidermal cell migration during wound reepithelialization. <u>J. Invest. Dermatol</u>. 79: 264-269, 1982.
- Clarke SD, Kobayashi DK, Welgus HG. Regulation of the expression of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases and collagenase by retinoids and glucocorticoids in human fibroblasts. <u>J. Clin. Invest.</u> 80: 1280-1288, 1987.
- Cole RT, Crigger M, Bogle G, Egelberg J, Selvig KA. Connective tissue regeneration to periodontally diseased teeth. A histological study. J. <u>Perio. Res.</u> 15: 1-9, 1980.
- Cortellini P, Pini Prato G, Tonetti MS. Periodontal regeneration of human infrabony defects. I. Clinical measures. <u>J. Perio.</u> 64: 254-260, 1993.
- Dean DD, Muniz OE, Berman I, Pita JC, Carreno MR, Woessner JF Jr. Howell DS. Localization of collagenase in the growth plate of rachitic rats. <u>J.</u> <u>Clin. Invest.</u> 76: 716-722, 1985.
- DeClerck YA, Yean T-D, Lu HS, Ting J, Langley KE. Inhibition of autoproteolytic activation of interstitial procollagenase by recombinant metalloproteinase inhibitor (MI/TIMP-2. J. Biol. Chem. 266: 3893-3899, 1991.
- Delaisse J-M, Eeckhout Y, Vaes G. Bone-resorbing agents affect the production and distribution of procollagenase as well as the activity of collagenase in bone tissue. <u>Endocrinology</u>. 123: 264-276, 1988.
- Demolon IA, Persson GR, Monlca BJ, Johnson RH, Ammons WF. Effects of antibiotic treatment on clinical conditions and bacterial growth with guided tissue regeneration. <u>J. Perio.</u> 64: 609-616, 1993.
- Diegelmann RF, Rothkopf LC, Cohen IK. Measurement of collagen biosynthesis during wound healing. <u>J. Surg. Res</u>. 19: 239-43, 1975
- Dragoo MR, Sullivan HC. A clinical and histologic evaluation of autogenous iliac bone grafts in humans. Part I. Wound healing 2 to 8 months. <u>J.</u> <u>Perio</u>. 44: 599-613, 1973.
- Edwards DR, Murphy G, Reynolds JJ, Whitman SE, Docherty AJP, Angel P, Heath JK. Transforming growth factor beta modulates the expression

of collagenase and metalloproteinase inhibitor. <u>EMBO J.</u> 6: 1899-1904, 1987.

- Eisen AZ, Bauer EA, Jeffrey JJ. Animal and human collagenases. <u>J. Invest.</u> <u>Derm.</u> 55: 359-373, 1970.
- Ellies LG and Aubin JE. Temporal sequence of interleukin 1 alpha-mediated stimulation and inhibition of bone formation by isolated fetal rat calvaria cells *in vitro*. Cytokine 2(6): 430-437, 1990.
- Everts V, Hoeben K, Beertsen W. The release of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases by calvarial bone explants and its immunolocalization. <u>Bone and Mineral</u>. 22: 43-55, 1993.
- Fisher SJ, Cui T-Y, Zhang L, Hartman L, Grahl K, Guo-Yang Z, Tarpey J, Damsky CH. Adhesive and degradative properties of human cytotrophoblasts in vitro. <u>J. Cell. Bio.</u> 109:891-902, 1989.
- Fleisher N, Waal HD, Bloom A. Regeneration of lost attachment apparatus in the dog using Vicryl absorbable mesh (Polygalactin 910). <u>Int. J. Perio</u> <u>& Rest. Dent.</u> 8(2): 45-54, 1988.
- Flenniken AM, Williams BRG. Developmental expression of the endogenous TIMP gene and a TIMP-lac Z fusion gene in transgenic mice. <u>Genes Dev.</u> 4: 1094-1106, 1990.
- Fruom SJ, Thaler R, Scopp IW, and Stahl S. Osseous autografts. II. Histologic responses to osseous coagulum-bone blend grafts. <u>J. Perio</u>. 46: 656-661, 1975.
- Furstman L, Bernick S. Early development of the periodontal membrane. <u>Am. J. Ortho</u>. 51:482-489, 1965.
- Garant PR and Cho M-I. Cytoplasmic polarization of periodontal ligament fibroblasts. Implications for cell migration and collagen secretion. <u>I.</u> <u>Perio. Res</u>. 14: 95-106, 1979.
- Goldberg GI, Marmer BL, Grant GA, Eisen AZ, Wilhelm S, He C. Human 72kilodalton type IV collagenase forms a complex with a tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases designated TIMP-2. <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.</u> 86: 8207-8211, 1989.
- Goldberg GI, Strongin A, Collier IE, Genrich LT, Marmer BL. Interaction of 92-kDa type IV collagenase with the tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases prevents dimerization, complex formation with interstitial collagenase, and activation of the proenzyme with stromelysin. J. Biol. Chem. 267(7): 4583-4591, 1992.

Gore W.L. and Associates. Procedural Guidelines. In: Gore-tex® Guided Tissue Regeneration Workshop Maunual. p.34, September 3, 1992.

- Gottlow J, Nyman S, Karring T, Lindhe J. New attachment formation as the result of controlled tissue regeneration. <u>J. Clin. Perio.</u> 11: 494-503, 1984.
- Gottlow J, Nyman S, Karring T, Lindhe J. New attachment formation as the result of controlled tissue regeneration. <u>J. Clin. Perio.</u> 11: 494-503, 1984.
- Gottlow J, Nyman S, Lindhe J, Karring T, Wennström J. New attachment formation in the human periodontium by guided tissue regeneration. Case reports. <u>I. Clin. Perio.</u> 13:6-4-616, 1986.
- Gould TRL. Ultrastructural characteristics of progenitor cell populations in the periodontal ligament. <u>I. Dent. Res.</u> 62:8 873-876, 1983.
- Grevstad HJ, Leknes KN. Epithelial adherence to polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) material. <u>Scan. J. Dent. Res.</u> 100:263-9, 1992.
- Handelsman M, Davarpanah M, Celletti R. Guided tissue regeneration with and without citric acid treatment in vertical osseous defects <u>Int. J.</u> <u>Perio. & Rest. Dent.</u> 11: 350-363, 1991.
- Haney JM, Nilvéus RE, McMillan PJ, Wikesjö UME. Periodontal repair in dogs: expanded polytetrafluorethylene barrier membranes support wound stabilization and enhance bone regeneration. <u>J. Perio.</u> 64: 883-890, 1993.

Hassell TM. Tissues and cells of the periodontium. Perio 2000. 3: 9-38, 1993.

- Hayashi S. Untersuchengen über die areterielle blutversogung des parodontiums. <u>Dtsch Monatsschr Zahnheilk</u>. 50: 145, 1932.
- Heath JK, Atkinson SJ, Meikle MC, Reynolds JJ. Mouse osteoblasts synthesize collagenase in response to bone resorbing agents. <u>Biochem Biophys</u> <u>Acta</u>. 802: 151, 1984.
- Heussen C, Dowdle EB. Electrophoretic analysis of plasminogen activators in polyacrylamide gels containing sodium dodecyl sulfate and copolymerized substrates. <u>Analytical Biochem.</u> 102 (1): 196-202, 1980.
- Hipps DS, Hembry RM, Docherty AJ, Reynolds JJ, Murphy G. Purification and characterization of human 72-kDa gelatinase (type IV collagenase). Use of immunolocalisation to demonstrate the non-coordinate regulation of the 72-kDa and 95-kDA gelatinases by human fibroblasts. <u>Biol. Chem</u> <u>Hoppe-Seyler</u>. 372: 287-296, 1991.
- Hou L-T, Yaeger JA. Cloning and characterization of human gingival and periodontal ligament fibroblasts. J. Perio. 64: 1209-1218, 1993.

- Houston F, Sarhed G, Nyman S, Lindhe J, Karring T. Healing after root reimplantation in the monkey. <u>J. Clin. Perio.</u> 12: 716-727, 1985.
- Howard EW, Bullen EC, Banda MJ. Preferential inhibition of 72 and 92kDa gelatinases by tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2. J. Biol. Chem. 266: 13070-13075, 1991.
- Isidor F, Karring T, Nyman S, Lindhe J. The significance of coronal growth of periodontal ligament tissue for new attachment formation. <u>J. Clin.</u> <u>Perio.</u> 13:145-150, 1986.
- Johansen JS, Williamson MK, Rice JS, Price PA. Identification of proteins secreted by human osteoblastic cells in culture. <u>J. Bone and Min. Res.</u> 7: 501-12, 1992.
- Karring T, Isidor F, Nyman S, Lindhe J. New attachment formation on teeth with a reduced but healthy periodontal ligament. <u>J. Clin. Perio.</u> 12: 51-60, 1985.
- Kerr LD, Holt JT, Matrisian LM. Transforming growth factor ß1 and cAMP inhibit transcription of epidermal growth factor- and oncogeneinduced transin RNA. J. Biol. Chem. 263: 16999-17005, 1988.
- Kurita K, Hashimoto Y, Takei T, Kawai T, Hayakawa T. Changes in collagen types during the healing of rabbit tooth extraction wounds. <u>J. Dent Res</u>. 64: 28-32, 1985.
- Kurkinen M, Vaheri A, Roberts PJ, Stenman S. Sequential appearance of fibronectin and collagen in experimental granulation tissue. <u>Lab.</u> <u>Invest.</u> 43: 47-51, 1980.
- Lefebvre V, Peeters-Joris C, Vaes G. Production of gelatin degrading matrix metalloproteinases (type IV collagenases) and inhibitors by articular chondrocytes during their dedifferentiation by serial subcultures and under stimulation by interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor alpha. <u>Biochem et Biophys. Acta.</u> 1094 (1): 8-18, 1991.
- Lekholm U, Becker W, Dahlin C, Becker B, Donath K, Morrison E. The role of early versus late removal of GTAM membranes on bone formation at oral implants placed into immediate extraction sockets. An experimental study in dogs. <u>Clinical Oral Implants Research</u>. 4: 121-129, 1993.
- Levine L, Stahl SS. Repair following periodontal flap surgery with the retention of gingival fiber. J. Perio. 43: 99-103, 1972.

- Levy BM, Bernick S. Studies on the biology of the periodontium of marmosets: V. Lymphatic vessels of the periodontal ligament. <u>J. Dent.</u> <u>Res.</u> 47: 1166-1170, 1968.
- Linghorne WJ, O'Connell DC. Studies in the regeneration and reattachment of supporting structures of teeth. I. Soft tissue reattachment. <u>J. Dent.</u> <u>Res.</u> 29: 419-428, 1950.
- Listgarten MA. Electron microscope features of the newly formed epithelial attachment after gingival surgery. <u>J. Perio. Res.</u> 2: 46, 1967.
- Lynch SE, Williams RC, Polson AM, Howell TH, Reddy MS, Zappa UE. A combination of platelet-derived and insulin-like growth factors enhances periodontal regeneration. <u>I. Clin. Perio.</u> 16: 545-548, 1989.
- Machtei EE, Cho M-I, Dunford R, Norderyd J, Zambon JJ, Genco RJ. Clinical, microbiological, and histological factors which influence the success of regenerative periodontal therapy. <u>I. Perio.</u> 65: 154-161, 1994.
- MacNaul KL, Chartrain N, Lark M, Tocci MJ, Hutchinson NI. Discoordinate expression of stromelysin, collagenase, and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 in rheumatoid human synovial fibroblasts.
   Synergistic effects of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor-α on stromelysin expression. <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 265: 17238-17245, 1990.
- Magnusson I, Nyman S, Karring T, Egelberg J. Connective tissue attachment formation following exclusion of gingival connective tissue and epithelium during healing. <u>J. Perio. Res.</u> 20: 201-208, 1985.
- Magnusson I, Stenberg WV, Batich C, Egelberg J. Connective tissue repair in circumferential periodontal defects in dogs following use of a biodegradable membrane. <u>J. Clin. Perio.</u> 17: 24-248, 1990.
- Marti HP, Thomas G, Davies M, Lovett DH. Molecular characterization of a low-molecular-mass matrix metalloproteinase secreted by glomerular mesangial cells as PUMP-1. <u>Biochem. J.</u> 285 (Part 3): 899-905, 1992.
- Martin GR, Timple R. Laminin and other basement membrane components. <u>Annual Rev. Cell. Bio.</u> 3: 57-85, 1987.
- Mawatari M, Kohno K, Mizoguchi H, MatsudaT, Asoh K, van Damme J, Welgus HG, Kuwano M. Effects of tumor necrosis factor and epidermal growth factor on cell surface morphology, cell surface receptors, and the production of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases and IL-6 in human microvascular endothelial cells. J. Immunol. 143: 1619-1627, 1989.

- McClain P, Schallhorn R. Long-term assessment of combined osseous composite grafting, root conditioning, and guided tissue regeneration. Int. J. Perio & Rest. Dent. 13: 9-28, 1993.
- McCulloch CAG. Progenitor cell populations in the periodontal ligament of mice. <u>Anatomical Record.</u> 211: 258-262, 1985.
- McDonald JA. Extracellular matrix assembly. <u>Annual Rev. Cell. Bio.</u> 4: 183-208, 1988.
- Meikle MC, Bord S, Hembry RM, Compston J, Croucher PI, Reynolds JJ. Human osteoblasts in culture synthesize collagenase and other matrix metalloproteinases in response to osteotropic hormones and cytokines. J. Cell Sci. 103: 1093-1099, 1992.
- Meikle MC, Mc Garrity AM, Thomson BM, Reynolds JJ. Bone-derived growth factors modulate collagenase and TIMP (tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases) activity and type I collagen degradation by mouse calvarial osteoblasts. <u>Bone and Mineral</u>. 12(1): 41-55, 1991.
- Melcher AH, Cheong T, Cox J, Nemeth E, Shiga A. Synthesis of cementumlike tissue *in vitro* by cells cultured from bone: a light and electron microscope study. J. Perio. Res. 21: 592-612, 1986.
- Melcher AH. On the repair potential of periodontal tissues. <u>J. Perio.</u> 47:5 256-260, 1976.
- Miyazaki K, Hattori Y, Umenishi F, Yasumitsu H, Umeda M. Purification and characterization of extracellular matrix-degrading metalloproteinase, Matrin (PUMP-1), secreted from human rectal carcinoma cell line. <u>Cancer Res.</u> 50: 7758-7764, 1990.
- Mukai M, Yoshimine Y, Akamine A, Maeda K. Bone-like nodules formed *in vitro* by rat periodontal ligament cells. <u>Cell Tissue Res.</u> 3: 453-460, 1993.
- Murphy G, Cockett MI, Ward RV, Docherty AJP. Matrix metalloproteinase degradation of elastin, type IV collagen and proteoglycan. A quantitative comparison of the activities of 95kDa and 72 kDa gelatinases, stromelysins-1 and -2 and punctuated metalloproteinase (PUMP). <u>Biochem J.</u> 277 Pt (1): 277-279, 1991.
- Nagase H, Barrett AJ, Woessner JF Jr. Nomenclature and glossary of the matrix metalloproteinases. In: Birkedal-Hansen H, Werb Z, Welgus HG, Van Wart HE, eds. <u>Matrix Metalloproteinases and Inhibitors.</u> Stuttgart: Gustav Fischer Verlag; 1992: 421-424.

- Nojima N, Kobayashi M, Shionome M, Takahashi N, Suda T, Hasegawa K. Fibroblastic cells derived from bovine periodontal ligaments have the phenotypes of osteoblasts. <u>J. Perio. Res.</u> 25: 179-185, 1990.
- Nomura S, Hogan BLM, Wills AJ, Heath JK, Edwards DR. Developmental expression of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP) RNA. <u>Development</u>. 105: 575-584, 1989.
- Nyman S, Gottlow J, Karring T, Lindhe J. New attachment following surgical treatment of human periodontal disease. J. Clin. Perio. 9:290-296, 1982.
- Nyman S, Lang NP, Buser D, Bragger U. Bone regeneration adjacent to titanium dental implants using guided tissue regeneration: A report of two cases. <u>J. Oral Maxillofac. Implants.</u> 5:9-14, 1990.
- O'Brien TP, Hinrichs JE, Schaffer EM. The prevention of localized ridge deformities using guided tissue regeneration. J. Perio. 65: 17-24, 1994.
- Oda D, Watso E. Human oral epithelial cell culture I. Improved conditions for reproducible culture in serum-free medium *in vitro*. <u>Cell Dev.</u> <u>Biol.</u> 26:589-595, 1990.
- Overall CM, Sodek J. Concanavalin A produces a matrix-degradative phenotype in human fibroblasts. Induction and endogenous activation of collagenase, 72-kDa gelatinase, and Pump-1 is accompanied by the suppression of the tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases. <u>I.</u> <u>Biol. Chem.</u> 265(34): 21141-51, 1990.
- Partridge CA, Jeffrey JJ, Malik AB. A 96-kDa gelatinase induced by TNF-alpha contributes to increased microvascular endothelial permeability.
   <u>Amer. J. of Physio.</u> 265 (Part 1): L438-47, 1993.
- Piche JE, Carnes DL Jr., Graves DT. Initial characterization of cells derived from human periodontia. <u>J. Dent Res.</u> 68:5 761-767, 1989.
- Pietrokovski J, Massler M. Ridge remodeling after tooth extraction in rats. <u>J.</u> <u>Dent. Res.</u> 46: 222-231, 1967.
- Polson AM, Proye MP. Fibrin linkage: a precursor for new attachment. <u>J.</u> <u>Perio.</u> 54: 141-147, 1983.
- Pritlove-Carson S, Palmer RM, Morgan PR, Floyd PD. Immunohistochemical analysis of cells attached to teflon membranes following guided tissue regeneration. <u>J. Perio.</u> 63: 969-973, 1992.
- Quantin B, Murphy G, Breathnach R. PUMP-1 cDNA codes for a protein with characteristics similar to those of classical collagenase family members. <u>Biochem.</u> 28:13 5327-5334, 1989.

- Richards D, Rutherford RB. The effects of interleukin-1 on collagenolytic activity and prostaglandin-E secretion by human periodontal ligament and gingival fibroblast. <u>Archives in Oral Biology</u>. 33:237-243, 1988.
- Rifas L, Fausto A, Scott MJ, Avioli LV, Welgus HG. Expression of metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in human osteoblast-like cells: differentiation is associated with repression of metalloproteinase biosynthesis. <u>Endocrin</u>. 134 (1): 213-221, 1994.
- Rifkin BR, Vernillo AT, Golub LM. Blocking periodontal disease progression by inhibiting tissue destructive enzymes: a potential therapeutic role for tetracyclines and their chemically-modified analogs. <u>J. Perio.</u> 64: 819-827, 1993.
- Ririe CM, Crigger M, Selvig KA. Healing of periodontal connective tissues following surgical wounding and application of citric acid in dogs. <u>J.</u> <u>Perio. Res.</u> 15: 314-327, 1980.
- Roberts WE, Fielder PJ, Rosenoer LML, Maese AC, Gonsalves MR, Morey ER. Nuclear morphometric analysis of osteoblast precursor cells in periodontal ligament, SL-3 rats. <u>American J. Physio.</u> 252:R247-R251, 1987.
- Rosenblith JZ, Ukena TE, Yin HH, Berlin RD, Karnovsky MJ. A comparative evaluation of the distribution of concanavalin A. Binding sites on the surfaces of normal, virally-transformed, and protease-treated fibroblasts. <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.</u> 70:6 1625-1629, 1973.
- Ruoslahti E. Fibronectin and its receptors. <u>Annual Rev. Biochem.</u> 57: 375-414, 1988.
- Sakamoto S, Sakamoto M. Immunocytochemical localization of collagenase in isolated mouse bone cells <u>Biomed Res.</u> 5: 29-38, 1984.
- Salo T, Mäkelä M, Kylmäniemi M, Expression of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 during early human wound healing. <u>Lab. Invest.</u> 70: 176-82, 1994.
- Salonen JI, Persson GR. Migration of epithelial cells on materials used in guided tissue regeneration. <u>J. Perio. Res.</u> 25: 215-21, 1990.
- Schroeder KL, Ramamurthy NS, Szczepanek KA, Tofil P, Smith R, Lee HM, Goulb LM. Low-dose doxycycline (LDD) prevents attachment loss in adult periodontitis. <u>I. Dent. Res.</u> 72 (spec. issues): 1936A.

- Schupbach P, Gaberthuel T, Lutz F, Guggenheim B. Periodontal repair or regeneration: structures of different types of new attachment. <u>J. Perio.</u> <u>Res.</u> 28 (4): 281-93, 1993.
- Sellers A, Reynolds JJ, Meikle MC. Neutral metalloproteinases of rabbit bone. <u>Biochem J.</u> 171: 493-496, 1978.
- Selvig KA, Bogle G, Claffey NM. Collagen linkage in periodontal connective tissue attachment. An ultrastructural study in beagle dogs. <u>J. Perio.</u> 59: 758-768, 1988.
- Selvig KA, Kersten BG, Chamberlain DH, Wikesjö UME, Nilvéus RE.
   Regenerative surgery of intrabony periodontal defects using ePTFE
   barrier membranes: Scanning electron microscopic evaluation of
   retrieved membranes versus clinical healing. <u>I. Perio.</u> 63: 974-978, 1992.
- Selvig KA, Nilvéus RE, Fitzmorris L, Kersten B, Khorsandi SS. Scanning electron microscopic observations of cell population and bacterial contamination of membranes used for guided periodontal tissue regeneration in humans. <u>J. Perio.</u> 61: 515-520, 1990.
- Shaw JH. Causes and control of dental caries. <u>New Eng. J. Med.</u> 317: 996-1004, 1987.
- Siebert J, Nyman S. Localized ridge augmentation in dogs: A pilot study using membranes and hydroxyapatite. J. Perio. 61: 157-165, 1990.
- Skjødt H, Gallagher JA, Beresford JN, Couch M, Poser JW, Russell RG.
   Vitamin D metabolites regulate osteocalcin synthesis and proliferation of human bone cells *in vitro*. <u>I. Endocrin.</u> 105 (3): 391-396, 1985.
- Socransky SS. Relationship of bacteria to the etiology of periodontal disease. <u>I. Dent. Res.</u> 49: 203-32, 1970.
- Somerman MJ, Foster RA, Saulk JJ. Biochemical analysis of periodontal cell activities. <u>The Biological Mechanisms of Tooth Movement and</u> <u>Craniofacial Adaptation.</u> 291-300, 1992.
- Somerman MJ, Young MF, Foster RA, Moehring JM, Imm G, Sauk JJ. Characteristics of human periodontal ligament cells *in vitro*. <u>A. O. Bio.</u> 35:3 241-247, 1990.
- Sorsa T, Uitto V-J, Suomolainen M, Vauhkonen M, Lindy S. Comparison of interstitial collagenases from human gingiva, sulcular fluid, and polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J. Perio. Res. 23: 386-393, 1988.
- Sottrup-Jensen L, Sand O, Kristensen L, Fey GH. The α-macroglobulin bait region. Sequence diversity and localization of cleavage sites for

proteinases in five mammalian  $\alpha$ -macroglobulins. <u>J. Biol. Chem.</u> 264: 15781-15789, 1989.

- Stahl SS. Repair potential of the soft tissue-root interface. <u>J. Perio.</u> 48:9 545-532, 1977.
- Stricklin GP, Bauer EA, Jeffrey JJ, Eisen AZ. Human skin collagenase: isolation of precursor and active forms from both fibroblast and organ cultures. <u>Biochem</u>. 16: 1607-1615, 1977.
- Stricklin GP, Welgus HG. Human skin fibroblast collagenase inhibitor. Purification and biochemical characterization. <u>J. Biol. Chem.</u> 258: 12252-12258, 1983.
- Tempro PJ, Nalbandian J. Colonization of retrieved polytetrafluoroethylene membranes: morphological and microbiological observations. <u>J. Perio.</u> 64: 162-168, 1993.
- Ten Cate AR, Mills C, Solomon G. The development of the periodontium. A transplantation and autoradiographic study. <u>Anat. Record</u>. 170: 365-379, 1971.
- Ten Cate AR, Mills C. The development of the periodontium: The origin of alveolar bone. <u>Anat. Record</u>. 173: 69-77, 1972.
- Teng YT, Sodek J, McCulloch CA. Gingival crevicular fluid gelatinase and its relationship to periodontal disease in human subjects. <u>J. Perio. Res.</u> 27 (5): 544-52, 1992.
- Unemori EN, Hibbs MS, Amento EP. Constitutive expression of a 92K gelatinase (Type V collagenase) by rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts and its induction in normal human fibroblasts by inflammatory cytokines. <u>J. Clin. Invest.</u> 88:1656-1662, 1991.
- Wang H-L, Yuan K, Burgett F, Shyr Y, Syed S. Adherence of oral microorganisms to guided tissue membranes: an *in vitro* study. <u>J.</u> <u>Perio.</u> 65: 211-218, 1994.
- Warrer K, Karring T, Nyman S, Gottlow J. Clinical applications of membranes for obtaining new attachment. <u>J. Dent Res.</u> 67: 756, 1988.
- Warters RL. Radiation-induced apoptosis in a murine T-cell hybridoma. <u>Cancer Res.</u> 52: 883-890, 1992.
- Welgus HG, Jeffrey JJ, Eisen AZ, Roswit WT, Stricklin GP. Human skin fibroblast collagenase: interaction with substrate and inhibitor. <u>Collagen Rel. Rev.</u> 5: 167-179, 1985.

- Welgus HG, Jeffrey JJ, Eisen AZ. The collagen substrate specificity of human skin fibroblast collagenase. J. Biol. Chem. 256: 9511-9515, 1981.
- Wikesjö UME, Nilvéus R. Periodontal repair in dogs: Effect of wound stabilization on healing. J. Perio. 61: 719-724, 1990.
- Wikesjö UME, Nilvéus RE, Selvig KA. Significance of early healing events on periodontal repair: a review. <u>J. Perio.</u> 63: 158-165, 1992.
- Wilhelm SM, Collier IE, Marmer BL, Eisen AZ, Grant GA, Goldberg GI. SV40-transformed human lung fibroblasts secrete a 92K type IV collagenase which is identical to that secreted by normal human macrophages. <u>J. Biol. Chem.</u> 264: 17213-17221, 1989.
- Williams RC, Zager NI. The periodontium. In: Shaw JH, Sweeney EA, Cappuccino CC, Meller SM, eds. Textbook of oral biology.
   Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders, 255-276, 1978.
- Williams RC. Periodontal disease. New Eng. J. Med. 322: 373-382, 1990.
- Wilson CM. An update on protein stains: Amido black, Coomassie blue G, and Coomassie blue R. <u>Biotechnique and Histochemistry</u>. 67(4) 224-234, 1992.
- Woessner JF Jr, Taplin CJ. Purification and properties of a small latent matrix metallo-proteinase of the rat uterus. <u>J. Biol. Chem.</u> 263: 16918-16925, 1988.
- World Workshop in Clinical Periodontics. Proceedings. Sponsored by The American Academy of Periodontology. Princeton, New Jersey, July 23-27, p. VI:1, 1989.
- Yamada S, Takahashi Y, Yamanouchi K, Sekiya S. The potential coronal migration of periodontal ligament tissue following experimental regeneration. <u>Bulletin of Tokyo Dental College</u>. 31(4): 275-282, 1990.
Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco
Start Francisco

Image: Start Francisco</t 212 . HOR



